

Local and global scalar curvature rigidity of Einstein manifolds

Mattias Dahl¹ · Klaus Kröncke¹

Received: 21 September 2021 / Revised: 26 September 2022 / Accepted: 14 November 2022 / Published online: 2 December 2022 © The Author(s) 2022

Abstract

An Einstein manifold is called scalar curvature rigid if there are no compactly supported volume-preserving deformations of the metric which increase the scalar curvature. We give various characterizations of scalar curvature rigidity for open Einstein manifolds as well as for closed Einstein manifolds. As an application, we construct mass-decreasing deformations of the Riemannian Schwarzschild metric and the Taub–Bolt metric.

Contents

1	Introduction and main results
	1.1 Closed Einstein manifolds
	1.2 Open Einstein manifolds
2	Notation, conventions, and formulas
3	Underdetermined elliptic equations
	3.1 Weighted function spaces
	3.2 Trace-free symmetric two-tensors with prescribed double divergence
	3.3 Density of TT-tensors
4	Prescribing scalar curvatures
5	A generalized λ -functional
	5.1 The first variation formula
	5.2 The second variation formula
	5.3 Estimates on variations
6	Global scalar curvature rigidity
7	Local scalar curvature rigidity
8	Mass-decreasing perturbations
R	eferences

☑ Klaus Kröncke kroncke@kth.se
Mattias Dahl dahl@kth.se

¹ Institutionen för Matematik, Kungliga Tekniska Högskolan, 100 44 Stockholm, Sweden

1 Introduction and main results

We call a Riemannian metric \hat{g} on a manifold *M* scalar curvature rigid (or SCR for short) if it can not be deformed to a metric *g* such that *g* agrees with \hat{g} outside a compact set and such that scal^{*g*} \geq scal^{$\hat{g}}$ everywhere and scal^{*g*} > scal^{$\hat{g}}$ somewhere.</sup></sup>

Euclidean space is well known to be SCR due to the rigidity part of the positive mass theorem for asymptotically Euclidean manifolds [42, 46]. Similarly, a version of the positive mass theorem for asymptotically hyperbolic manifolds implies that hyperbolic space [11, 35] is SCR. Inspired by these examples, it was expected that the upper half of the round sphere would be SCR as well but this conjecture was surprisingly disproved by Brendle–Marques–Neves [7].

Concepts of mass exist also for other asymptotics such as asymptotically locally Euclidean (ALE) and asymptotically (locally) flat (AF/ALF) and it is natural to ask about consequences for scalar curvature rigidity in these cases. In fact, the assertion of the positive mass theorem does not hold for ALE manifolds in general [31] but there is a version for ALE spin manifolds by the first author which implies that ALE manifolds with parallel spinors [13] are SCR. A version of the positive mass theorem also exists for AF/ALF metrics which implies that $\mathbb{R}^{n-1} \times S^1$ is SCR [34].

The purpose of this paper is to systematically characterize scalar curvature rigidity of Einstein manifolds. It is natural to restrict to the class of Einstein metrics as the scalar curvature of a non-Einstein metric can (at least in the compact case) be increased, for example by evolving it along the (normalized) Ricci flow. If the scalar curvature of the Einstein metric is nonzero, we will impose a volume constraint on the deformations of the metric.

We will state and prove equivalent characterizations of scalar curvature rigidity on closed as well as on open Einstein manifolds. In particular, our manifolds do not need to be complete and our results also allow to detect which subsets of compact or complete noncompact Einstein manifolds are SCR. Scalar curvature rigidity is characterized by means of positivity of the *Einstein operator* which is an elliptic operator closely related to the well-known *Lichnerowicz Laplacian*.

Our results imply that Ricci-flat manifolds with parallel spinors are SCR. This fits well with Witten's proof of the positive mass theorem which does also work in the ALE case and as mentioned before, implies that Ricci-flat ALE manifolds with parallel spinors are SCR. In contrast, the Riemannian Schwarzschild metric and the Taub–Bolt metric are Ricci-flat ALF metrics which do not have parallel spinors and we prove in this paper that both metrics are not SCR. This allows us additionally to show that a positive mass theorem does not hold for these metrics: There are small scalar-flat perturbations of these metrics which decrease the mass.

1.1 Closed Einstein manifolds

In the following we give equivalent characterizations of scalar curvature rigidity of closed Einstein manifolds. In the Ricci-flat case, many implications between the different conditions (stated in Theorem 1.1 below) were shown in the literature. However, we could not find a formulation in this complete form. Before stating the theorem,

let us recall that the (conformal) Yamabe invariant of a conformal class of metrics is given by

$$Y(M, [g]) := \inf_{\tilde{g} \in [g]} \operatorname{vol}(M, \tilde{g})^{\frac{2}{n} - 1} \int_M \operatorname{scal}^{\tilde{g}} dV^{\tilde{g}}.$$

In the following we think of the conformal Yamabe invariant as the functional $Y : \mathcal{M} \ni g \mapsto Y(\mathcal{M}, [g])$, where \mathcal{M} is the space of smooth Riemannian metrics on the manifold \mathcal{M} . The topology we use for the locality statements in the remainder of the section is the $C^{2,\alpha}$ -topology on the space of metrics.

Theorem 1.1 Let (M, \hat{g}) be a closed Ricci-flat manifold. Then the following are equivalent.

- (i) \hat{g} is a local maximizer of the conformal Yamabe invariant.
- (ii) Close to \hat{g} , there is no metric g with scal^g ≥ 0 and scal^g > 0 somewhere.
- (iii) Close to \hat{g} , there is no metric of constant positive scalar curvature.
- (iv) Any scalar-flat metric close to \hat{g} is also Ricci-flat.
- (v) \hat{g} is dynamically stable under the Ricci flow.

The equivalence (i) \Leftrightarrow (ii) follows from the solution of the Yamabe problem [40]. The implication (ii) \Rightarrow (iii) is trivial and the converse implication (iii) \Rightarrow (ii) follows from the structure of the space of constant scalar curvature metrics, see [25, Theorem 2.5] and again [40]. A central ingredient from the Yamabe problem used here is the fact that the sign of the Yamabe invariant of a conformal class is the same as the sign of any constant scalar curvature metric in it.

The implication (ii) \Rightarrow (iv) is widely attributed to Bourguignon and is carried out in detail in [17, Proposition 2.1]. The converse implication (iv) \Rightarrow (ii) is less straightforward and requires some more work. We will carry out the arguments for the Einstein case stated below. Finally, the equivalence (i) \Rightarrow (v) follows from using Perelman's λ -functional, and more precisely, the assertion

(vi) \hat{g} is a local maximizer of the λ -functional.

In fact, $(v) \Rightarrow (vi)$ follows from the monotonicity of λ along the Ricci-flow [37] and $(vi) \Rightarrow (v)$ is Theorem 1 in [23]. The remaining equivalence (i) \Leftrightarrow (vi) is Theorem 1.1 in [29] by the second author.

A criterion for all these conditions to hold can be formulated in terms of the Einstein operator which we introduce now. Recall that a symmetric two-tensor is called a transverse traceless tensor, or TT-tensor, if its trace and its divergence both vanish identically. The space of TT-tensors is denoted by TT, if we do not specify any regularity.

Definition 1.2 The *Einstein operator* $\Delta_E : C^{\infty}(S^2M) \to C^{\infty}(S^2M)$ is defined by $\Delta_E = \nabla^* \nabla - 2\mathring{R}$, where $\mathring{R}h_{ij} = h^{kl}R_{iklj}$, where we use the Einstein summation convention. A closed Einstein manifold is called *linearly stable* if all eigenvalues of $\Delta_E|_{TT}$ are nonnegative and *linearly unstable* otherwise. We call an Einstein manifold *integrable*, if all $h \in \ker(\Delta_E|_{TT})$ are tangent to smooth families of Einstein metrics.

Remark 1.3 The equivalent conditions in Theorem 1.1 do hold if (M, \hat{g}) is linearly stable and integrable [41]. Linear stability and integrability are satisfied by closed Ricci-flat manifolds whose universal cover admits a parallel spinor [1, 17, 44]. This is a large class of closed Ricci-flat manifolds, which contains all known examples of such manifolds. It is a major open problem whether examples outside this class exist.

It is natural to ask for an analogue of Theorem 1.1 for closed Einstein manifolds. In this case, it is essential to impose a volume constraint in order to avoid rescalings of metrics which obviously just rescale the scalar curvature. To formulate the theorem, let \mathcal{M}_c be the set of smooth Riemannian metrics on M of volume c > 0.

Theorem 1.4 Let (M, \hat{g}) be a closed Einstein manifold and $c = vol(M, \hat{g})$. Then the following are equivalent.

- (i) \hat{g} is a local maximizer of the Yamabe invariant.
- (ii) Close to \hat{g} , there is no metric $g \in \mathcal{M}_c$ such that $\operatorname{scal}^g \ge \operatorname{scal}^{\hat{g}}$ and $\operatorname{scal}^g > \operatorname{scal}^{\hat{g}}$ somewhere.
- (iii) Close to \hat{g} , there is no constant scalar curvature metric $g \in \mathcal{M}_c$ such that $\operatorname{scal}^g > \operatorname{scal}^{\hat{g}}$.
- (iv) Any metric $g \in \mathcal{M}_c$ close to \hat{g} with scal^g = scal^{\hat{g}} is also Einstein.

If $\operatorname{scal}^{\hat{g}} \leq 0$, then (i)–(iv) are also equivalent to

(v) \hat{g} is dynamically stable under the volume-normalized Ricci flow.

The equivalence (i) \Leftrightarrow (v) is [29, Theorem 1.2] by the second author. We will prove the equivalence of (i)–(iv) in Sect. 6. In contrast to Theorem 1.1, the results on the Yamabe problem can not be used to show equivalence of (i), (ii) and (iii) as the sign of the Yamabe invariant does not play any role here. Two ingredients are essential: On the one hand, we use a parameter-dependent generalization of the λ -functional. On the other hand, we provide a new structure theorem of the space of metrics close to \hat{g} which extends both Koiso's structure theorem [25] and Ebin's slice theorem [18].

Remark 1.5 In Theorem 1.4, $(v) \Rightarrow (i)$ does hold when scal^g > 0 as well, but the converse then false. The complex projective space is a prominent counterexample [29, Corollary 1.8]. However, it seems reasonable to believe that if (i) holds, \hat{g} is dynamically stable with respect to an adapted version of the Ricci flow, for example the Ricci-Bourguignon flow [10] or the conformal Ricci flow [20].

Remark 1.6 As in the Ricci-flat case, the conditions (i)–(iv) do hold if (M, \hat{g}) is linearly stable and integrable. If scal^{\hat{g}} < 0, all known examples satisfy both conditions [14]. In contrast, there are many known unstable closed Einstein manifolds with scal^{\hat{g}} > 0, see [12] for examples.

1.2 Open Einstein manifolds

For the characterization of scalar curvature rigidity of open Einstein manifolds, we need an appropriate definition of linear stability in this setting. Let $C_c^{\infty}(TT)$ be the space of compactly supported TT-tensors on the manifold M.

Definition 1.7 An open Einstein manifold (M, g) is called *linearly stable*, if the number

$$\mu_1(\Delta_E|_{TT}, M) := \inf \left\{ (\Delta_E h, h)_{L^2} \mid h \in C_c^{\infty}(TT), \|h\|_{L^2}^2 = 1 \right\}$$

is nonnegative and linearly unstable otherwise.

The number $\mu_1(\Delta_E|_{TT}, M)$ is the bottom of the L^2 -spectrum of the Einstein operator acting on TT-tensors. If M is the interior of a compact manifold \overline{M} with smooth boundary, $\mu_1(\Delta_E|_{TT}, M)$ coincides with the smallest Dirichlet eigenvalue of $\Delta_E|_{TT}$ on \overline{M} . This follows from the nontrivial fact that $C_c^{\infty}(TT)$ is H^1 -dense in $\mathring{H}^1(S^2M) \cap TT$. The proof of this fact follows from results of Delay [15], and is carried out in detail in Section 3.3.

The theorem in the Ricci-flat case can be now formulated as follows:

Theorem 1.8 Let (M, \hat{g}) be an open Ricci-flat manifold which does not admit a linear function, that is, there is no nonconstant function f with $\nabla^2 f \equiv 0$. Then the following are equivalent:

- (i) (M, \hat{g}) is linearly stable.
- (ii) Close to \hat{g} , there is no metric g with $g \hat{g}|_{M \setminus K} \equiv 0$ for some compact set $K \subset M$ which additionally satisfies

$$\operatorname{scal}^g \ge 0$$
, $\operatorname{scal}^g(p) > 0$ for some $p \in M$.

(iii) If g is a metric close to \hat{g} with scal^g $\equiv 0$ and $g - \hat{g}|_{M \setminus K} \equiv 0$ for some compact set $K \subset M$, then g is isometric to \hat{g} .

Conditions (i),(ii) and (iii) can be seen as respective replacements of the conditions (i), (ii) and (iv) in Theorem 1.1. Conditions (iii) and (v) in Theorem 1.1 do not have appropriate replacements in the present situation. We cannot construct perturbations with larger constant scalar curvature if we just allow compactly supported perturbations of \hat{g} . Finally, dynamical stability does not make sense in this context either as there is no canonical Ricci flow on an incomplete manifold.

The proof of theorem 1.8 will not be carried out in detail as it follows, up to minor modifications, along the lines of the proof of the corresponding theorem in the general Einstein case. There, we have to additionally assume a spectral inequality and to impose a volume constraint on the support of the perturbations. The theorem reads as follows:

Theorem 1.9 Let (M, \hat{g}) be an open Einstein manifold satisfying the following two assumptions:

- (A) (M, \hat{g}) is not locally isometric to a warped product.
- (B) If $\operatorname{scal}^{\hat{g}} > 0$, M is the interior of a compact manifold M with smooth boundary whose first nonzero Neumann eigenvalue satisfies

$$\mu_1^{NM}(\Delta^{\hat{g}}, \overline{M}) > \frac{\operatorname{scal}^{\hat{g}}}{n-1}.$$
(1)

🖄 Springer

Then the following are equivalent:

- (i) (M, \hat{g}) is linearly stable.
- (ii) Close to \hat{g} , there is no metric g with

 $g - \hat{g}|_{M \setminus K} \equiv 0, \quad \operatorname{vol}(K, g) = \operatorname{vol}(K, \hat{g})$

for some compact set $K \subset M$ which additionally satisfies

$$\operatorname{scal}^g \ge \operatorname{scal}^{\hat{g}}, \quad \operatorname{scal}^g(p) > \operatorname{scal}^{\hat{g}}(p) \text{ for some } p \in M.$$

(iii) If g is a metric close to \hat{g} with scal^g = scal^{\hat{g}} and

 $g - \hat{g}|_{M \setminus K} \equiv 0$, $\operatorname{vol}(K, g) = \operatorname{vol}(K, \hat{g})$

for some compact set $K \subset M$, then g is isometric to \hat{g} .

Remark 1.10 The two implications $(i) \Rightarrow (ii)$ and $(i) \Rightarrow (iii)$ do also hold without Assumption (A), as it does not appear in the proof. Conversely, the two implications $(ii) \Rightarrow (i)$ and $(iii) \Rightarrow (i)$ do also hold without Assumption (B).

Remark 1.11 Regarding the assumptions in Theorem 1.9:

- (i) If (M, ĝ) is an open subset of a closed Einstein manifold (N, ĝ), Assumption (A) is satisfied unless (M, ĝ) is of constant nonzero curvature or (N, ĝ) is a Ricci-flat product manifold with a flat factor.
- (ii) Assumption (B) holds whenever *M* is a compact manifold with a convex boundary, see [19, Theorem 4.3].

The implications (i) \Rightarrow (ii) and (i) \Rightarrow (iii) are proven together. As in the closed case, we use a parameter-dependent generalization of Perelman's λ -functional which we call λ_{α} . In the closed case, λ_{α} assigns to every metric the smallest eigenvalue of an elliptic operator. To recover a similar variational structure in the presence of a nonempty boundary it turns out to be convenient to impose Neumann boundary conditions for this functional. Assumption (B) will give us the right sign for the second variation of λ_{α} . A detailed discussion of λ_{α} is carried out in Sects. 5 and 7, cumulating in Theorem 7.1.

The other part of the proof consists in proving the implications $\neg(i) \Rightarrow \neg(ii)$ and $\neg(i) \Rightarrow \neg(iii)$. Assuming that (M, \hat{g}) is linearly unstable, we will construct volumepreserving perturbations of the metric \hat{g} with larger scalar curvature respectively with the same scalar curvature but which are not Einstein. Linear instability enters in an essential way since the crucial term in $D_g^2 \operatorname{scal}(h, h)$ is given by $-1/2\langle \Delta_E h, h \rangle$. The construction of these perturbations follows from a carefully executed second order implicit function argument using the solution theory of underdetermined elliptic equations on manifolds as developed by Delay [15]. Assumption (A) guarantees solvability of the equations that appear. The details of this construction is carried out in Sect. 4. All the arguments outlined in these two paragraphs are brought together at the end of Sect. 7.

458

The typical example to which Theorem 1.9 applies is an open subset Ω of a complete Einstein manifold M. To simplify the following discussion, let us assume in this remark that Ω does satisfy the Assumptions (A) and (B).

By domain monotonicity of $\mu_1(\Delta_E, \Omega)$ and the fact that $\mu_1(\Delta_E, \Omega) \to \infty$ as Ω shrinks to a point, we see that sufficiently small open subsets of a given Einstein manifold *M* are SCR.

If *M* is linearly unstable, open subsets $\Omega \subset M$ are SCR whenever they are so small that $\mu_1(\Delta_E, \Omega) > 0$. If Ω is so large that $\mu_1(\Delta_E, \Omega) = 0$, it is still SCR because we restrict to perturbations with compact support in Ω . Each such perturbation will then be supported in a slightly smaller domain $\Omega' \subset \Omega$ where we have $\mu_1(\Delta_E, \Omega') > 0$ by monotonicity. If Ω is taken only slightly larger, we will immediately have $\mu_1(\Delta_E, \Omega) < 0$ and scalar curvature rigidity fails.

It is open at the moment whether in the case $\mu_1(\Delta_E, \Omega) = 0$, we also get scalar curvature rigidity with respect to perturbations whose supports do hit the boundary of Ω . This question presumably depends on the integrability of elements $h \in \ker(\Delta_E|_{TT})$ with Dirichlet boundary conditions on $\partial \Omega$ and will be subject of further investigations.

Example 1.12 Any open non-product Ricci-flat manifold whose universal cover carries a parallel spinor, is linearly stable and therefore SCR by Theorem 1.8. This applies to all known examples of Ricci-flat manifolds which are either closed or ALE. Examples of Ricci-flat AF/ALF manifolds with parallel spinors are provided by $\mathbb{R}^{n-1} \times S^1$ and the Taub-NUT metric.

There are also Ricci-flat manifolds which are linearly stable but do not admit parallel spinors. In [28], the second author showed that Ricci-flat cones over $S^n \times S^m$ are linearly stable if $n + m \ge 9$.

Example 1.13 In other geometric situations than closed or ALE, there are many examples of unstable Ricci-flat manifolds which by Theorem 1.8 are not SCR:

- The Riemannian Schwarzschild metic and the Taub–Bolt metric are both linearly unstable AF/ALF Ricci-flat metrics.
- A Ricci-flat cone over a product Einstein manifold is linearly unstable if n < 10 [22].
- Böhm constructed complete noncompact Ricci-flat manifolds which are asymptotic to such cones [8]. These examples are linearly unstable as well.

Similarly, in constrast to the closed case, there are many examples of noncompact linearly unstable Einstein manifolds of negative scalar curvature which by Theorem 1.9 are not SCR:

- The AdS Riemannian Schwarzschild metric and the AdS–Taub–Bolt metric are both linearly unstable for certain parameters [39, 45].
- A hyperbolic cone over a product Einstein manifold is linearly unstable if n < 10, see [28, Theorem 4.7] by the second author.

Remark 1.14 There is an interesting analogy of this to geodesics and minimal surfaces which are minimizers of the respective area and energy functionals if they are small, until they may reach a critical size at which the respective smallest Dirichlet

eigenvalues change sign. In that sense, the boundary $\partial \Omega$ of a domain $\Omega \subset M$ with $\mu_1(\Delta_E, \Omega) = 0$ is an analogue of a pair of conjugate points. The present problem is much more complicated however, as we do not only want to increase a single functional such as area or energy but a function on the domain.

2 Notation, conventions, and formulas

Throughout the paper, any Riemannian metric will be smooth, unless stated otherwise. The Riemann curvature tensor of a Riemannian metric g is defined by the sign convention that $R_{ijkl} = g(\nabla_{\partial_i} \nabla_{\partial_j} \partial_k - \nabla_{\partial_j} \nabla_{\partial_i} \partial_k, \partial_l)$. The Ricci curvature and the scalar curvature of a metric g are denoted by Ric^g, scal^g, respectively. The Laplacian on functions is defined by $\Delta^g f = \nabla^* \nabla f = -g^{ij} \nabla_{ij}^2 f$, where we use the Einstein summation convention. The volume element is denoted by dV^g .

The bundle of symmetric two-tensors is denoted by S^2M while the subbundle of tracefree symmetric two-tensors (with respect to a given metric) is denoted by S_0^2M . For the space of sections of a vector bundle *E* with regularity for example C^{∞} , $C^{k,\alpha}$, we write $C^{\infty}(E)$, $C^{k,\alpha}(E)$ etc. Although TT-tensors do not form a bundle, we write for notational convenience $C^{\infty}(TT)$ or $C^{k,\alpha}(TT)$ for the TT-tensors with respective regularity.

The divergence of a symmetric two-tensor and of a one-form are defined by $\delta h_k = -g^{ij} \nabla_i h_{jk}$ and $\delta \omega = -g^{ij} \nabla_i \omega_j$, respectively. The formal adjoint $\delta^* : C^{\infty}(T^*M) \rightarrow C^{\infty}(S^2M)$ is given by $(\delta^*\omega)_{ij} = \frac{1}{2}(\nabla_i \omega_j + \nabla_j \omega_i)$. For $h, k \in C^{\infty}(S^2M)$, we define another two-tensor $h \circ k$ by $(h \circ k)_{ij} = h_{im}g^{ml}k_{lj}$. Furthermore, we define the Lichnerowicz Laplacian $\Delta_L : C^{\infty}(S^2M) \rightarrow C^{\infty}(S^2M)$ by

$$\Delta_L h = \nabla^* \nabla h + \operatorname{Ric} \circ h + h \circ \operatorname{Ric} -2\mathring{R}h.$$

Note that in the Einstein case $\Delta_L = \Delta_E + 2\sigma$, if σ is the Einstein constant.

The following well-known variation formula is essential for our main results. For the proof see [6, Theorem 1.174].

Lemma 2.1 The first variation of the scalar curvature is given by

$$D_g \operatorname{scal}(h) = \frac{d}{dt} \operatorname{scal}^{g+th} |_{t=0} = \Delta \operatorname{tr} h + \delta(\delta h) - \langle \operatorname{Ric}, h \rangle.$$

In particular, if g is Einstein with $Ric = \sigma g$, we have

$$D_g \operatorname{scal}(h) = \frac{d}{dt} \operatorname{scal}^{g+th}|_{t=0} = \Delta \operatorname{tr} h + \delta(\delta h) - \sigma \operatorname{tr} h.$$

For the purposes of this paper, we have to go beyond the first variation formula and compute the second variation formula of the scalar curvature.

Lemma 2.2 The second variation of the scalar curvature is given by

$$D_g^2 \operatorname{scal}(h,h) = \frac{d^2}{dt^2} \operatorname{scal}^{g+th}|_{t=0} = \langle h, \nabla^2 \operatorname{tr} h \rangle - \left\langle \delta h + \frac{1}{2} \nabla \operatorname{tr} h, \nabla \operatorname{tr} h \right\rangle - \Delta |h|^2 + \langle h, \nabla \delta h \rangle - |\delta h|^2 - \frac{1}{2} \langle \nabla \operatorname{tr} h, \delta h \rangle + \delta (\delta' h) - \left\langle \frac{1}{2} \Delta_L h - \delta^* (\delta h) - \frac{1}{2} \nabla^2 \operatorname{tr} h, h \right\rangle + 2 \langle \operatorname{Ric}, h \circ h \rangle.$$

where the prime ' is shorthand notation for the first variation in the direction of h. In particular, if g is Einstein such that $\text{Ric} = \sigma g$ and h is a TT-tensor, we have

$$D_g^2 \operatorname{scal}(h, h) = -\Delta(|h|^2) + \delta(\delta'h) - \frac{1}{2} \langle \Delta_E h, h \rangle + \sigma |h|^2$$

Remark 2.3 The precise form of $\delta' h$ is irrelevant for our purposes which is why we do not write it out explicitly.

Proof of Lemma 2.2 From Lemma 2.1 we have

$$D_g^2 \operatorname{scal}(h, h) = \frac{d}{dt} (\Delta \operatorname{tr} h + \delta(\delta h) - \langle \operatorname{Ric}^g, h \rangle)|_{t=0}$$

= $\Delta'(\operatorname{tr} h) + \Delta(\operatorname{tr}' h) + \delta'(\delta h) + \delta(\delta' h) - \langle \operatorname{Ric}', h \rangle - \langle \operatorname{Ric}, h \rangle'$
= $\Delta'(\operatorname{tr} h) - \Delta(|h|^2) + \delta'(\delta h) + \delta(\delta' h) - \langle \operatorname{Ric}', h \rangle + \langle \operatorname{Ric}, h \circ h \rangle,$

where we used standard variational formulas for the trace and the scalar product. The proof of the lemma is completed by using the variational formulas

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{Ric}' &= D_g \operatorname{Ric}(h) = \frac{1}{2} \Delta_L h - \delta^*(\delta h) - \frac{1}{2} \nabla^2 \operatorname{tr} h, \\ \Delta' f &= D_g \Delta(h) f = \langle h, \nabla^2 f \rangle - \left(\delta h + \frac{1}{2} \nabla \operatorname{tr} h, \nabla f \right), \\ \delta' \omega &= D_g \delta(h) \omega = \langle h, \nabla \omega \rangle - \langle \delta h, \omega \rangle - \frac{1}{2} \langle \nabla \operatorname{tr} h, \omega \rangle, \end{split}$$

where f is a function and ω a one-form. For more details on these formulas, see for example [6, Section 1.K] or the appendix of the second author's PhD thesis [27]. \Box

3 Underdetermined elliptic equations

In our construction we will need to find solutions of underdetermined elliptic equations whose supports are contained in a prescribed compact set. In this section we review constructions and results from the work of Delay [15] as we will apply them.

3.1 Weighted function spaces

We begin by introducing the weighted function spaces used by Delay in [15]. Let Ω be a precompact open set with smooth boundary, and let *x* be a smooth nonnegative defining function for the boundary, so that $\partial \Omega = x^{-1}(\{0\})$ and $dx \neq 0$ on $\partial \Omega$. For $a \in \mathbb{N}$ and $s \in \mathbb{R}$, $s \neq 0$, define the functions

$$\phi := x^2, \quad \psi := x^{2(a-n/2)}e^{-s/x}, \quad \varphi := x^{2a}e^{-s/x}$$

Define the weighted Sobolev spaces $\mathring{H}^{k}_{\phi,\psi}$, the weighted Hölder spaces $C^{k,\alpha}_{\phi,\varphi}$, and the weighted Fréchet space $C^{\infty}_{\phi,\varphi}$ as in [15], that is

$$\|u\|_{H^k_{\phi,\psi}} = \left(\int_{\Omega} \sum_{i=0}^k \phi^{2i} |\nabla^i u|^2 \psi^2 \, dV\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

As the choice of norm depends on the parameters *s* and *a* in an essential way, we introduce an alternative notation, which better fits in the framework of other conventions for weighted Sobolev spaces. Let $\theta = e^{-\frac{1}{x}}$. For $\delta, s \in \mathbb{R}$, we set

$$\|u\|_{H^{k}_{\delta,s}} = \left(\int_{\Omega} \sum_{i=0}^{k} |\phi^{(i-\delta)} \nabla^{i} u|^{2} \theta^{-2s} \phi^{-n} dV\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

and define $\mathring{H}^k_{\delta,s}$ to be the closure of C_c^{∞} with respect to this norm. Comparing these two notions, we easily see that

$$\|u\|_{H^k_{\phi,\psi}} = \|u\|_{H^k_{-a,-s}}.$$

Note also that $\mathring{H}^k_{\delta} := \mathring{H}^k_{\delta,0}$ a standard example of a weighted Sobolev space. A convenient reference for their properties are the lecture notes [3] of Bär.

Let us collect a few properties of these spaces. At first, if $\delta_1 \leq \delta_2$, $s_1 \leq s_2$ and $k, l \in \mathbb{N}_0$, we have

$$\mathring{H}^{k+l}_{\delta_2,s_2} \subset \mathring{H}^k_{\delta_1,s_1}.$$

Furthermore for $k, l \in \mathbb{N}_0, \delta, \delta_1, s, s_1 \in \mathbb{R}$, we have bounded maps

$$\nabla^{l}: \mathring{H}^{k+l}_{\delta,s} \to \mathring{H}^{k}_{\delta-l,s}, \qquad \phi^{\delta_{1}}: \mathring{H}^{k}_{\delta,s} \to \mathring{H}^{k}_{\delta+\delta_{1},s}, \qquad \theta^{s_{1}}: \mathring{H}^{k}_{\delta,s} \to \mathring{H}^{k}_{\delta,s+s_{1}},$$

where the latter two are of course isomorphisms. The Hölder inequality in this setting states that

$$\|uv\|_{L^{r}_{\delta_{1}+\delta_{2}}} \leq C \|u\|_{L^{p}_{\delta_{1}}} \|v\|_{L^{p}_{\delta_{2}}}, \text{ if } \frac{1}{r} = \frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q}, \delta_{1}, \delta_{2} \in \mathbb{R}$$

D Springer

and the Sobolev embedding theorem tells us that

$$\|u\|_{W^{k+l,p}_{\delta}} \le C \|u\|_{W^{k,q}_{\delta}}, \quad \text{if} \quad \frac{1}{p} > \frac{1}{q} - \frac{l}{n}.$$

The following lemma is a straightforward consequence.

Lemma 3.1 If k > n/2 we have a continuous multiplication

$$\mathring{H}^k_{\delta_1} \times \mathring{H}^k_{\delta_2} \to \mathring{H}^k_{\delta_1 + \delta_2}.$$

In particular \mathring{H}^k_{δ} is then an algebra for $\delta \geq 0$.

Proof For $0 \le j \le l \le k$, choose p, q such that $\frac{1}{2} = \frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q}$ and $\frac{1}{p} > \frac{1}{2} - \frac{l-j}{n}$, $\frac{1}{q} > \frac{1}{2} - \frac{j}{n}$. This is possible since k > n/2. For $0 \le l \le k$ we estimate

$$\begin{split} \left\| \nabla^{l}(uv) \right\|_{L^{2}_{\delta_{1}+\delta_{2}-l}} &\leq C \sum_{j=0}^{l} \left\| \nabla^{l-j}u \otimes \nabla^{j}v \right\|_{H^{k}_{\delta_{1}+\delta_{2}-l}} \\ &\leq C \sum_{j=0}^{l} \left\| \nabla^{l-j}u \right\|_{L^{p}_{\delta_{1}-(l-j)}} \left\| \nabla^{j}v \right\|_{L^{q}_{\delta_{1}-j}} \\ &\leq C \sum_{j=0}^{l} \left\| u \right\|_{W^{l-j,p}_{\delta_{1}}} \left\| v \right\|_{W^{j,q}_{\delta_{1}}} \\ &\leq C \sum_{j=0}^{l} \left\| u \right\|_{H^{k}_{\delta_{1}}} \left\| v \right\|_{H^{k}_{\delta_{2}}}. \end{split}$$

Corollary 3.2 If k > n/2 we have a continuous multiplication

$$\mathring{H}^k_{\delta_1,s_1} \times \mathring{H}^k_{\delta_2,s_2} \to \mathring{H}^k_{\delta_1+\delta_2,s_1+s_2}.$$

In particular $\mathring{H}^k_{\delta,s}$ is then an algebra for $\delta, s \ge 0$.

Proof This follows directly from the above lemma, since

Theorem 3.3 Let $\mathring{H}^k_{\phi,\psi} = \mathring{H}^k_{-a,-s}$ where s > 0, $a \ge n$, and $k > \frac{n}{2}$. Then for

$$u, v \in \psi^2 \phi^2 \mathring{H}^{k+2}_{\phi, \psi},$$

Deringer

we have that

$$\nabla^i u \otimes \nabla^j v \in \psi^2 \mathring{H}^k_{\phi, \psi}$$

for $0 \leq i, j \leq 2$.

Remark 3.4 This assertion extends easily to an arbitrary number of tensor products of the form $\nabla^{i_1}u_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes \nabla^{i_N}u_N$. In particular, the scalar curvature map $g \mapsto \operatorname{scal}_g$ can be extended as a map between these spaces.

Proof Note that

$$\begin{split} \psi^2 \phi^2 \mathring{H}^{k+2}_{\phi,\psi} &= \theta^{2s} \phi^{2+2a-n} \mathring{H}^{k+2}_{-a,-s} = \mathring{H}^{k+2}_{a+2-n,s}, \\ \psi^2 \mathring{H}^k_{\phi,\psi} &= \theta^{2s} \phi^{2a-n} \mathring{H}^k_{-a,-s} = \mathring{H}^k_{a-n,s}, \end{split}$$

and that

$$\nabla^i u, \nabla^j v \in \mathring{H}^k_{a-n,s}.$$

Since $k > \frac{n}{2}$ and $a - n \ge 0$ the result follows by the above corollary.

Note that s < 0 gives spaces of sections which vanish to all orders at the boundary, whereas s > 0 gives spaces of sections which blow up to all orders.

Assumption 3.5 From now on, we assume s < 0.

3.2 Trace-free symmetric two-tensors with prescribed double divergence

We will now state the main result of [15] in the case of the double divergence operator δ^2 acting on trace-free symmetric two-tensors. This will be applied in Sect. 4

Let $P := \delta^2$ considered as a map from trace-free symmetric two-tensors to functions. The formal adjoint is then the trace-free part of the Hessian, $P^* = \mathring{\nabla}^2$. We make the following assumption.

Assumption 3.6 We assume that the kernel \mathcal{K} of P^* consists only of constant functions.

This assumption is equivalent to the metric not being locally a warped product (see Theorem 4.3.3 of [38]).

Since $P = \delta \circ \delta$ acting on trace-free symmetric two-tensors, we have $P^* = \mathcal{D} \circ d$ where *d* is the differential acting on functions and \mathcal{D} is the conformal Killing operator acting on 1-forms. By Sections 9.1 and 9.4 in [15], the conditions (API) and (KRC) hold for *d* and \mathcal{D} and we conclude that these conditions hold for P^* as well.

Define the operator

$$\mathcal{L}_{\phi,\psi} := \psi^{-2} P \psi^2 \phi^4 P^*.$$

Let \mathcal{K}^{\perp} be the orthogonal complement of \mathcal{K} with respect to the L^2_{ψ} inner product. Then \mathcal{K}^{\perp} consists of all functions \tilde{f} such that $\int_{\Omega} \tilde{f} \psi^2 dV = 0$. Let $\pi_{\mathcal{K}^{\perp}}$ be the orthogonal

projection onto \mathcal{K}^{\perp} with respect to the L^2_{ψ} inner product. By Theorem 3.8 of [15] we have that

$$\pi_{\mathcal{K}^{\perp}}\mathcal{L}_{\phi,\psi}:\mathcal{K}^{\perp}\cap \mathring{H}^{k+4}_{\phi,\psi}\to \mathcal{K}^{\perp}\cap \mathring{H}^{k}_{\phi,\psi}$$

is an isomorphism. By (10.3) in [15] we further have that

$$\phi^2 P^*: \mathring{H}^{k+4}_{\phi,\psi} \to \mathring{H}^{k+2}_{\phi,\psi}$$

is a bounded map, which means that also

$$\psi^2 \phi^4 P^* : \mathring{H}^{k+4}_{\phi,\psi} \to \psi^2 \phi^2 \mathring{H}^{k+2}_{\phi,\psi}$$

is bounded. Define the operator Q by

$$Q(f) = \psi^2 \phi^4 P^* \left((\pi_{\mathcal{K}^{\perp}} \mathcal{L}_{\phi,\psi})^{-1} \left(\psi^{-2} f \right) \right).$$
(2)

By the above, this is a bounded map

$$Q:\psi^2\left(\mathcal{K}^{\perp}\cap \mathring{H}^k_{\phi,\psi}\right)\to \psi^2\phi^2\mathring{H}^{k+2}_{\phi,\psi}.$$

Let $f \in \psi^2 C^{\infty}_{\phi,\varphi}$ be such that $\int_{\Omega} f \, dV = 0$. The trace-free symmetric two-tensor U := Q(f) is a solution to the equation P(U) = f and Theorem 5.1 of [15] tells us that $U \in \psi^2 \phi^2 C^{\infty}_{\phi,\varphi}$ so that U is smooth and U and all its derivatives vanish on $\partial\Omega$. This theorem is formulated with the assumption that f smooth with compact support in Ω , but the proof only uses that $f \in \psi^2 C^{\infty}_{\phi,\varphi}$.

We summarize the above discussion in the following theorem.

Theorem 3.7 (Delay) Let (M, g) be a Riemannian manifold for which Assumption 3.6 holds. For any $f \in \psi^2 C^{\infty}_{\phi,\varphi}(M)$ with $\int_{\Omega} f \, dV = 0$, the trace-free two-tensor U := Q(f) is a solution to

$$\delta(\delta U) = f$$

with $U \in \psi^2 \phi^2 C^{\infty}_{\phi,\varphi}(S^2_0 M)$ so that U is smooth and U and all its derivatives vanish on $\partial \Omega$. Further, for any nonnegative integer k there is a constant C so that

$$\|U\|_{\psi^2 \phi^2 \dot{H}^{k+2}_{\phi,\psi}} \le C \|f\|_{\psi^2 \dot{H}^k_{\phi,\psi}}$$
(3)

for all such f.

3.3 Density of TT-tensors

We will now apply the results of [15] to conclude that the compactly supported TTtensors are dense in spaces of TT-tensors of some specific regularity. This will be applied in Sects. 4 and 7.

Lemma 3.8 Let (M, g) be a compact manifold with boundary. Then the space $C_c^{\infty}(TT)$ of compactly supported TT-tensors is $\psi^2 \phi^2 H_{\phi,\psi}^k$ -dense in $\psi^2 \phi^2 \mathring{H}_{\phi,\psi}^k(TT)$.

Proof Let $h \in TT \cap \psi^2 \phi^2 \mathring{H}^k_{\phi,\psi}(S_0^2 M)$. By definition, there is a sequence $h_i \in C_c^{\infty}(S_0^2 M)$ such that $h_i \to h$ in the $\psi^2 \phi^2 H^k_{\phi,\psi}$ -norm. Now we would like to find correction tensors $k_i \in C_c^{\infty}(S_0^2 M)$ such that $h_i - k_i \to h$ in the $\psi^2 \phi^2 H^k_{\phi,\psi}$ -norm and $\delta(h_i - k_i) = 0$. We therefore need to solve the equation

$$\delta k_i = \delta h_i = \delta (h_i - h).$$

Let $a \in \mathbb{N}$ and s > 0 be the parameters such that $\mathring{H}^{k}_{-a,-s} = \mathring{H}^{k}_{\phi,\psi}$. Then $\psi^{2}\phi^{2}\mathring{H}^{k}_{\phi,\psi} = \mathring{H}^{k}_{a+2-n,s}$ and $\delta(h_{i} - h) \to 0$ in the $H^{k-1}_{a+1-n,s}$ -norm.

We now apply Delay's results with $\hat{P} = \delta$ acting on trace-free symmetric twotensors, so that $\hat{P}^* = \mathcal{D}$ where \mathcal{D} is the conformal Killing operator acting on 1-forms. The kernel \mathcal{K} of \mathcal{D} consists of the 1-forms dual to conformal Killing fields. Let \mathcal{K}^{\perp} be the orthogonal complement of \mathcal{K} with respect to the L^2_{ψ} inner product and let $\pi_{\mathcal{K}^{\perp}}$ be the orthogonal projection onto \mathcal{K}^{\perp} . Define the operator

$$\mathcal{L}_{\phi,\psi} := \psi^{-2} \hat{P} \psi^2 \phi^2 \hat{P}^* : \mathring{H}^{k+1}_{-b,-s} \to \mathring{H}^{k-1}_{-b,-s}.$$

By Theorem 3.8 of [15] we know that

$$\pi_{\mathcal{K}^{\perp}}\mathcal{L}_{\phi,\psi}:\mathcal{K}^{\perp}\cap \mathring{H}^{k+1}_{-b,-s}\to \mathcal{K}^{\perp}\cap \mathring{H}^{k-1}_{-b,-s}$$

is an isomorphism for each $b \in \mathbb{N}$ whose inverse we denote by \hat{Q} .

Since $h_i - h$ vanishes on the boundary of M we have $\psi^{-2}\delta(h_i - h) \in \mathcal{K}^{\perp}$. The solution k_i of the equation

$$\delta k_i = \delta(h_i - h)$$

is thus given by

$$k_i = \psi^2 \phi^2 \hat{P}^* \hat{Q} \psi^{-2} \delta(h_i - h).$$
(4)

We have $\psi^{-2}\delta(h_i - h) \to 0$ in $H^{k-1}_{-a+1,-s}$. If we set b = a-1 in the above isomorphism, we get $\hat{Q}\psi^{-2}\delta(h_i - h) \to 0$ in $H^{k+1}_{-a+1,-s}$ and $\hat{P}^*\hat{Q}\psi^{-2}\delta(h_i - h) \to 0$ in $H^k_{-a,s} =$ $H^k_{\phi,\psi}$ so that finally

$$k_i = \psi^2 \phi^2 \hat{P}^* \hat{Q} \psi^{-2} \delta(h_i - h) \to 0$$

in $\psi^2 \phi^2 H^k_{\phi,\psi}$ which is what we wanted to prove.

To ensure that the k_i are compactly supported in the interior of M, we refine the argument as follows. Take a sequence of diffeomorphisms $\Phi_i : M \to \Omega_i \subset M$ converging uniformly in all derivatives to the identity map on M, where the precompact subsets Ω_i are such that $\operatorname{supp}(h_i)$ is compactly supported in the interior of Ω_i . Such diffeomorphisms can be constructed by choosing a tubular neighborhood of ∂M and deforming the identity map in the radial direction. We then get that $g_i := \Phi_i^* g$ converges to g smoothly in all derivatives. Let $\tilde{h}_i = \Phi_i^* h_i$. We define \tilde{k}_i , similar to k_i in (4), by

$$\tilde{k}_i := \psi^2 \phi^2 \hat{P}_i^* \hat{Q}_i \psi^{-2} \delta^{g_i} (\tilde{h}_i - \Phi_i^* \tilde{h}),$$
(5)

where the operators \hat{P}_i and \hat{Q}_i are now defined with respect to the metric g_i . Note that with the same parameters a, s as above, we have $\Phi_i^*h \notin \psi^2 \phi^2 \mathring{H}_{\phi,\psi}^k = \mathring{H}_{a+2-n,s}^k$, because h is not supported in Ω_i . However, since $\delta^{g_i}(\Phi_i^*\tilde{h}) = 0$ and the \tilde{h}_i are supported in the interior of M, we still have $\delta^{g_i}(\tilde{h}_i - \Phi_i^*\tilde{h}) \in H_{a+1-n,s}^{k-1}$, which is what we need to make sense of \tilde{k}_i in (5). By construction, $\delta^{g_i}(\tilde{h}_i - \tilde{k}_i) = 0$. Since $g_i \to g$ smoothly, $\delta^{g_i}(\tilde{h}_i - \Phi_i^*\tilde{h}) \to 0$ in $H_{a+1-n,s}^{k-1}$ and $\tilde{k}_i \to 0$ in $\psi^2 \phi^2 \mathring{H}_{\phi,\psi}^k$. Now the tensors $k_i = (\Phi_i)_* \tilde{k}_i$ are supported in Ω_i , and so are $h_i - k_i$. By diffeomorphism invariance of the divergence, we get $\delta^g(h_i - k_i) = 0$ and because Φ_i converges to the identity, we also get $k_i \to 0$ in $\psi^2 \phi^2 \mathring{H}_{\phi,\psi}^k$. Therefore, $h_i - k_i \to h$ in $\psi^2 \phi^2 \mathring{H}_{\phi,\psi}^k$, as desired.

Lemma 3.9 Let (M, g) be a compact manifold with boundary. Then the space $C_c^{\infty}(TT)$ of compactly supported TT-tensors is H^1 -dense in $\mathring{H}^1(TT)$.

Proof We deduce this density lemma from Lemma 3.8 and a trick. Consider δ as a map $C^{\infty}(S_0^2 M) \to C^{\infty}(T^*M)$ and consider its formal adjoint

$$\mathcal{D} = \left(1 - \frac{1}{n}g \cdot \operatorname{tr}\right) \circ \delta^* : C^{\infty}(T^*M) \to C^{\infty}(S_0^2M).$$

Then we have the L^2 -orthogonal decomposition

$$\psi^2 \phi^2 \mathring{H}^k_{\phi,\psi}(S^2_0 M) = \overline{\mathcal{D}(C^\infty_c(T^*M))}^{\psi^2 \phi^2 H^k_{\phi,\psi}} \oplus \psi^2 \phi^2 \mathring{H}^k_{\phi,\psi}(TT)$$

and by Lemma 3.8, we actually have

$$\psi^2 \phi^2 \mathring{H}^k_{\phi,\psi}(S_0^2 M) = \overline{\mathcal{D}(C_c^\infty(T^*M))}^{\psi^2 \phi^2 H^k_{\phi,\psi}} \oplus \overline{C_c^\infty(TT)}^{\psi^2 \phi^2 H^k_{\phi,\psi}}.$$

🖄 Springer

Now if we take the closure of this decomposition in the H^1 -norm, we get

$$\mathring{H}^{1}(S_{0}^{2}M) = \overline{\mathcal{D}(C_{c}^{\infty}(T^{*}M))}^{H^{1}} \oplus \overline{C_{c}^{\infty}(TT)}^{H^{1}}.$$

Let us justify this statement: let $U \subset \mathring{H}^1(S_0^2 M)$ be a dense subspace which admits the L^2 -orthogonal decomposition $U = V \oplus W$. Further, let $u \in \overline{U}^{H^1} = \mathring{H}^1(S_0^2 M)$ and u_i be a sequence in U, uniquely decomposed as $u_i = v_i + w_i$ with $v_i \in V$, $w_i \in W$. since the L^2 -orthogonal projections

$$\pi_V: \mathring{H}^1(S_0^2M) \to \overline{V}^{H^1}, \quad \pi_W: \mathring{H}^1(S_0^2M) \to \overline{W}^{H^1}$$

are H^1 -continuous, $\pi_V(u_i) = v_i$ and $\pi_W(u_i) = w_i$ converge in H^1 to limits $v \in \overline{V}^{H^1}$ and $w \in \overline{W}^{H^1}$ respectively and we have u = v + w. Clearly \overline{V}^{H^1} and \overline{W}^{H^1} have trivial intersection as they are L^2 -orthogonal as well. Thus

$$\overline{U}^{H^1} = \mathring{H}^1(S_0^2 M) = \overline{V}^{H^1} \oplus \overline{W}^{H^1},$$

which is what we stated. Since we of course also have the decomposition

$$\mathring{H}^{1}(S_{0}^{2}M) = \overline{\mathcal{D}(C_{c}^{\infty}(T^{*}M))}^{H^{1}} \oplus \mathring{H}^{1}(TT),$$

we may conclude

$$\overline{C_c^{\infty}(TT)}^{H^1} = \mathring{H}^1(TT).$$

as desired.

Note that if (M, g) is an Einstein manifold with Einstein constant σ , we have the standard commutation formulas (see for example [32] and [27, p. 15])

$$\operatorname{tr} \circ \Delta_{E} = (\Delta - 2\sigma) \circ \operatorname{tr},$$

$$\delta \circ \Delta_{E} = (\Delta_{H} - 2\sigma) \circ \delta,$$

$$\Delta_{E} \circ \delta^{*} = \delta^{*} \circ (\Delta_{H} - 2\sigma),$$

$$\Delta_{E}(fg) = (\Delta f - 2\sigma f)g,$$

where Δ_H is the Hodge Laplacian on one-forms and f is a function. Hence, Δ_E is diagonal with respect to the L^2 -orthogonal splitting

$$\mathring{H}^{1}(S^{2}M) = \left(\mathring{H}^{1}(M) \cdot g + \overline{\delta^{*}(C_{c}^{\infty}(T^{*}M))}^{H^{1}}\right) \oplus \mathring{H}^{1}(TT)$$

Thus, it makes sense to speak about the lowest (Dirichlet) eigenvalue of Δ_E on TT-tensors.

Corollary 3.10 Let M be a compact Einstein manifold with boundary. Then its interior is linearly stable in the sense of Definition 1.7 if and only if the smallest Dirichlet eigenvalue of Δ_E on TT-tensors is negative.

Proof By Lemma 3.9 and continuity, we have

$$\inf \left\{ (\Delta_E h, h)_{L^2} \mid h \in C_c^{\infty}(TT), \|h\|_{L^2}^2 = 1 \right\}$$
$$= \inf \left\{ (\Delta_E h, h)_{L^2} \mid h \in \mathring{H}^1(TT), \|h\|_{L^2}^2 = 1 \right\},$$

which immediately implies the result.

Lemma 3.11 Let $h \in C_c^{\infty}(TT)$ satisfy $h \neq 0$ and suppose that

$$\int_M \langle \Delta_E h, h \rangle \, dV = 0.$$

Then there exist tensors $h_{\pm} \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega) \cap TT$ such that

$$\int_{M} \langle \Delta_E h_{\pm}, h_{\pm} \rangle \mathrm{dV} = \pm 1, \qquad \int_{M} \langle \Delta_E h_{+}, h_{-} \rangle \mathrm{dV} = 0.$$
(6)

and $h = \frac{1}{2}(h_+ + h_-)$.

Remark 3.12 This result reflects the following elementary fact: a null vector for a non-degenerate quadratic form can be written as the sum of normalized orthogonal spacelike and timelike vectors. This fact is needed in an essential way in a construction in the next chapter.

Proof Consider the symmetric bilinear form $Q: C_c^{\infty}(TT) \times C_c^{\infty}(TT) \to \mathbb{R}$, given by

$$Q(k_1, k_2) = \int_M \langle \Delta_E k_1, k_2 \rangle \mathrm{dV}.$$

Observe that it is non-degenerate since $\Delta_E : C_c^{\infty}(TT) \to C_c^{\infty}(TT)$ does not have a kernel. We first prove that there exists a $k \in C_c^{\infty}(TT)$ such that Q(k, k) = 0and $Q(h, k) = \frac{1}{2}$. To find this k, let k_0 be such that $\alpha := Q(k_0, h) \neq 0$. If $\beta := Q(k_0, k_0) = 0$, we set $k = \frac{1}{2\alpha}k_0$. If $\beta \neq 0$, we observe that $k_1 = -\frac{2\alpha}{\beta}k_0 + h$ satisfies $Q(k_1, k_1) = 0$ and $Q(k_1, h) = -\frac{2\alpha}{\beta}Q(k_0, h) = -\frac{2\alpha^2}{\beta}$. Then $k = -\frac{\beta}{4\alpha^2}k_1$ has the required properties. It is then easy to see that the tensors $h_{\pm} = h \pm k$ have the properties stated in the lemma.

🖄 Springer

4 Prescribing scalar curvatures

In our next theorem we will construct 1-parameter deformations of a metric g with prescribed scalar curvature and volume form, and a symmetric two-tensor h prescribed as the first derivative of the deformation.

Theorem 4.1 Assume that (M, g) is a compact Einstein manifold with boundary, which is not locally a warped product. Let f_t be a 1-parameter family of smooth functions, with C^3 -regularity in the parameter t. Assume that the f_t are supported in the open set Ω which is relatively compact in the interior of M. Further, assume that $h \neq 0$ is a smooth TT-tensor with support in Ω satisfying

$$\int_{M} \langle \Delta_E h, h \rangle \, dV = -2 \int_{M} f_0 \, dV. \tag{7}$$

Then there exists a 1-parameter family g_t of metrics with $g_0 = g$ and $\frac{d}{dt}g_t|_{t=0} = h$ such that

$$\operatorname{scal}^{g_t} = \operatorname{scal}^g + \frac{t^2}{2} f_t, \tag{8}$$

$$dV^{g_t} = dV^g, (9)$$

and $g_t = g$ outside of Ω .

Remark 4.2 A famous result by Kazdan and Warner [30] (with an improvement by Bérard Bergery [5]) asserts that closed manifolds divide into three disjoint classes according to which functions can be the scalar curvature of a Riemannian metric:

- (i) Any smooth function is the scalar curvature of a smooth metric.
- (ii) A smooth function is the scalar curvature of a smooth metric if and only if it is either identically zero or strictly negative somewhere. In this case, any scalar-flat metric is Ricci-flat.
- (iii) A smooth function is the scalar curvature of a smooth metric if and only if it is strictly negative somewhere.

Similarly, Theorem 4.1 gives us a dichotomy for perturbations of the scalar curvature:

- (i)' If (M, g) is linearly unstable, any C_c^{∞} -function is a second order scalar curvature perturbation of a $C_c^{\infty}(TT)$ -perturbation of g.
- (iii)' If (M, g) is linearly stable, a C_c^{∞} -function is a second order scalar curvature perturbation of a $C_c^{\infty}(TT)$ -perturbation of g if and only if it has negative integral.

An analogue of (ii) does not exist: This would correspond to the *neutrally lineary* stable case where $\mu_1^D(\Delta_E, TT) = 0$. However, the infimum in $\mu_1^D(\Delta_E, TT)$ can then not be realized by a C_c^{∞} -tensor.

Proof of Theorem 4.1 The assertion can be regarded as a kind of second order implicit function theorem. As in the standard implicit function theorem, the proof is based on a contraction argument, but in this case, it is for second order perturbations. We work

in Delay's function spaces $\psi^2 \phi^2 \mathring{H}^{k+2}_{\phi,\psi}$ we introduced in Sect. 3. To carefully execute the arguments, we have divided the proof into seven steps. Throughout the proof, the Einstein constant of g is be denoted by σ .

Step 1: Solving to second order at t = 0. Let *h* be a smooth TT-tensor such that (7) holds and let *k* be a symmetric two-tensor. Set $g_t := g + th + \frac{t^2}{2}k$. Since *h* is a TT-tensor we have

$$\frac{d}{dt}\operatorname{scal}^{g_t}|_{t=0} = D_g\operatorname{scal}(h) = 0$$

and

$$\frac{d}{dt}dV^{g_t}|_{t=0} = D_g dV(h) = \left(\frac{1}{2}\operatorname{tr}^g h\right)dV^g = 0.$$

We want to choose k such that

$$\frac{d^2}{dt^2}\operatorname{scal}^{g_t}|_{t=0} = D_g\operatorname{scal}(k) + D_g^2\operatorname{scal}(h,h) = f_0,$$
(10)

and

$$\frac{d^2}{dt^2}dV^{g_t}|_{t=0} = D_g dV(k) + D_g^2 dV(h,h) = 0,$$
(11)

so that $\operatorname{scal}^{g_t} = \operatorname{scal}^g + \frac{t^2}{2} f_0 + O(t^3)$ and $dV^{g_t} = dV^g + O(t^3)$. First, set $k = \frac{1}{n} |h|^2 g + k$, where k is a trace-free two-tensor. Then,

$$D_g dV(k) + D_g^2 dV(h,h) = \left(\frac{1}{2}\operatorname{tr}^g k + \frac{1}{4}(\operatorname{tr}^g h)^2 - \frac{1}{2}|h|_g^2\right) dV^g = 0,$$

and (11) holds. To solve (10), we recall from Lemmas 2.1 and 2.2 that

$$D_g \operatorname{scal}(k) = \Delta(\operatorname{tr}^g k) + \delta(\delta k) - \sigma \operatorname{tr}^g k,$$

$$D_g^2 \operatorname{scal}(h, h) = -\Delta(|h|^2) + \delta(\delta' h) - \frac{1}{2} \langle \Delta_E h, h \rangle + \sigma |h|^2,$$

where the operator δ' also depends linearly on *h*. We now have

$$D_g \operatorname{scal}(k) + D_g^2 \operatorname{scal}(h, h) = \delta \left(\delta' h - \frac{1}{n} d|h|^2 + \delta \mathring{k} \right) - \frac{1}{2} \langle \Delta_E h, h \rangle.$$

The function

$$-\delta\left(\delta'h - \frac{1}{n}d|h|^2\right)$$

has vanishing integral, and by assumption the same holds for

$$\frac{1}{2}\langle \Delta_E h, h \rangle + f_0,$$

so from Theorem 3.7 we get a trace-free symmetric two-tensor \mathring{k} with support in Ω such that

$$\delta\delta\mathring{k} = -\delta\left(\delta'h - \frac{1}{n}d(|h|^2)\right) + \frac{1}{2}\langle\Delta_E h, h\rangle + f_0.$$

With this choice of \mathring{k} , our tensor $k \in C^{\infty}(S^2M)$ satisfies (10) and the first step is finished.

Step 2: Setting up an iteration. Using an iteration argument, we are going deform the family g_t to a solution of (8) and (9).

For integers $i \ge 0$ set

$$g_t^{(i)} := g + h_t^{(i)} + \frac{1}{2}k_t^{(i)},$$

where $h_t^{(i)}$, $k_t^{(i)}$ are families of symmetric two-tensors depending on *t*, and we assume that the $h_t^{(i)}$ are TT-tensors. The iteration begins with $h_t^{(0)} := th$ and $k_t^{(0)} := t^2k$ so that $g_t^{(0)} = g_t$. We will then find $h_t^{(i)}$, $k_t^{(i)}$ iteratively from the equations

$$D_g \operatorname{scal}(k_t^{(i+1)} - k_t^{(i)}) + D_g^2 \operatorname{scal}(h_t^{(i+1)}, h_t^{(i+1)}) - D_g^2 \operatorname{scal}(h_t^{(i)}, h_t^{(i)})$$

$$= \operatorname{scal}(g) + \frac{t^2}{2} f_t - \operatorname{scal}(g_t^{(i)})$$
(12)

and

$$D_g dV(k_t^{(i+1)} - k_t^{(i)}) + D_g^2 dV(h_t^{(i+1)}, h_t^{(i+1)}) - D_g^2 dV(h_t^{(i)}, h_t^{(i)})$$

= $dV(g) - dV(g_t^{(i)})$
= $(1 - U_t^{(i)}) dV^g$, (13)

where $U_t^{(i)} dV(g) := dV(g_t^{(i)}).$

Step 3: Solving the iteration. We now explain how to determine $h_t^{(i)}, k_t^{(i)}$.

For the TT-tensor $h_t^{(i)}$, we use two slightly different constructions depending on whether $F_0 := \int_N f_0 dV$ vanishes or not. If $F_0 \neq 0$ we set

$$h_t^{(i)} := t(1 + \lambda_t^{(i)})h,$$
 (14)

where $\lambda_t^{(i)}$ is a function of t only. In the case $F_0 = 0$ we set

$$h_t^{(i)} := t\left(\frac{1}{2}(h_+ + h_-) + \lambda_t^{(i)}(h_+ - h_-)\right),\tag{15}$$

where $\lambda_t^{(i)}$ is a function of *t*, and the compactly supported TT-tensors h_+ and h_- are given by Lemma 3.11. The right choice of $\lambda_t^{(i)}$ will guarantee the solvability of (12). Further, we write $k_t^{(i)} = \frac{1}{n}(\operatorname{tr}^g k_t^{(i)})g + \mathring{k}_t^{(i)}$ where $\operatorname{tr}^g \mathring{k}_t^{(i)} = 0$. Suppose now that $h_t^{(i)}$ and $k_t^{(i)}$ are already obtained. Demanding (13) yields

$$\frac{1}{2} \left(\operatorname{tr}^{g} k_{t}^{(i+1)} - |h_{t}^{(i+1)}|_{g}^{2} \right) - \frac{1}{2} \left(\operatorname{tr}^{g} k_{t}^{(i)} - |h_{t}^{(i)}|_{g}^{2} \right) = 1 - U_{t}^{(i)}.$$
(16)

Let us assume for the moment that this relation holds. Then by integrating equation (12) and using (16) we get

$$\begin{split} &\int_{M} \left(\frac{t^{2}}{2} f_{t} - \operatorname{scal}(g_{t}^{(i)}) \right) dV^{g} \\ &= \int_{M} \left(D_{g} \operatorname{scal}(k_{t}^{(i+1)} - k_{t}^{(i)}) + D_{g}^{2} \operatorname{scal}(h_{t}^{(i+1)}, h_{t}^{(i+1)}) - D_{g}^{2} \operatorname{scal}(h_{t}^{(i)}, h_{t}^{(i)}) \right) dV^{g} \\ &= \int_{M} \left((\Delta - \sigma) \left(\operatorname{tr}^{g} k_{t}^{(i+1)} - |h_{t}^{(i+1)}|_{g}^{2} \right) + \delta(\delta k_{t}^{(i+1)} + \delta' h_{t}^{(i+1)}) - \frac{1}{2} \langle \Delta_{E} h_{t}^{(i+1)}, h_{t}^{(i+1)} \rangle \right) dV^{g} \\ &- \int_{M} \left((\Delta - \sigma) \left(\operatorname{tr}^{g} k_{t}^{(i)} - |h_{t}^{(i)}|_{g}^{2} \right) + \delta(\delta k_{t}^{(i)} + \delta' h_{t}^{(i)}) - \frac{1}{2} \langle \Delta_{E} h_{t}^{(i)}, h_{t}^{(i)} \rangle \right) dV^{g} \\ &= \int_{M} \left(2(\Delta - \sigma) \left(1 - U_{t}^{(i)} \right) - \frac{1}{2} \left(\langle \Delta_{E} h_{t}^{(i+1)}, h_{t}^{(i+1)} \rangle - \langle \Delta_{E} h_{t}^{(i)}, h_{t}^{(i)} \rangle \right) \right) dV^{g}, \end{split}$$

so

$$\begin{split} \int_{M} \left(\frac{t^{2}}{2} f_{t} - \operatorname{scal}(g_{t}^{(i)}) - 2(\Delta - \sigma) \left(1 - U_{t}^{(i)} \right) \right) dV^{g} \\ &= -\frac{1}{2} \int_{M} \left(\langle \Delta_{E} h_{t}^{(i+1)}, h_{t}^{(i+1)} \rangle - \langle \Delta_{E} h_{t}^{(i)}, h_{t}^{(i)} \rangle \right) dV^{g} \\ &= \begin{cases} F_{0} t^{2} \left((1 + \lambda_{t}^{(i+1)})^{2} - (1 + \lambda_{t}^{(i)})^{2} \right), & \text{if } F_{0} \neq 0, \\ -t^{2} \left(\lambda_{t}^{(i+1)} - \lambda_{t}^{(i)} \right), & \text{if } F_{0} = 0. \end{cases}$$
(17)

Provided that the involved quantities are sufficiently small, this yields a unique choice for $\lambda_t^{(i+1)}$ and hence for $h_t^{(i+1)}$. Then, tr^g $k_t^{(i+1)}$ is defined by (16).

Now it remains to determine the tracefree part $\hat{k}_t^{(i+1)}$ of $k_t^{(i+1)}$. For this, we consider Eq. (12) which becomes

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{t^2}{2} f_t - \operatorname{scal}(g_t^{(i)}) \\ &= D_g \operatorname{scal}(k_t^{(i+1)} - k_t^{(i)}) + D_g^2 \operatorname{scal}(h_t^{(i+1)}, h_t^{(i+1)}) - D_g^2 \operatorname{scal}(h_t^{(i)}, h_t^{(i)}) \\ &= 2(\Delta - \sigma) \left(1 - U_t^{(i)}\right) - \frac{1}{2} \left(\langle \Delta_E h_t^{(i+1)}, h_t^{(i+1)} \rangle - \langle \Delta_E h_t^{(i)}, h_t^{(i)} \rangle \right) \\ &+ \delta(\delta k_t^{(i+1)} + \delta' h_t^{(i+1)}) - \delta(\delta k_t^{(i)} + \delta' h_t^{(i)}) \end{aligned}$$

or

$$\delta\delta\left(\mathring{k}_{t}^{(i+1)}-\mathring{k}_{t}^{(i)}\right)=\mathring{f}_{t}^{(i+1)},$$

where

$$\begin{split} f_t^{i(i+1)} &:= \frac{t^2}{2} f_t - \operatorname{scal}(g_t^{(i)}) - 2(\Delta - \sigma) \left(1 - U_t^{(i)} \right) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \left(\langle \Delta_E h_t^{(i+1)}, h_t^{(i+1)} \rangle - \langle \Delta_E h_t^{(i)}, h_t^{(i)} \rangle \right) \\ &- \delta \left(\frac{1}{n} d \operatorname{tr}^g k_t^{(i+1)} + \delta' h_t^{(i+1)} \right) + \delta \left(\frac{1}{n} d \operatorname{tr}^g k_t^{(i)} + \delta' h_t^{(i)} \right). \end{split}$$

By the previous choices, $f_t^{(i+1)}$ integrates to zero. We define $\mathring{k}_t^{(i+1)}$ to be the trace-free symmetric two-tensor with support in Ω satisfying

$$\dot{k}_t^{(i+1)} - \dot{k}_t^{(i)} = Q(\dot{f}_t^{(i+1)}), \tag{18}$$

where the operator Q is defined in (2).

Summing up, we used Eqs. (16), (17) and (14), (15), followed by Eq. (18) to compute $h_t^{(i+1)}$ and $k_t^{(i+1)}$ in terms of $h_t^{(i)}$ and $k_t^{(i)}$. We will show that for small *t*, this iteration procedure defines a contraction.

Step 4: Rewriting the iteration. We continue by rewriting Eqs. (12) and (13). By exploiting the Taylor expansion formula, we will sum up some of the terms in these equations to small integral error term which are more convenient for establishing the contraction property. For this purpose, set

$$g_{t,s}^{(i)} := g + sh_t^{(i)} + \frac{s^2}{2}k_t^{(i)}.$$

Then

$$\frac{d}{ds}g_{t,s}^{(i)}|_{s=0} = h_t^{(i)}, \quad \frac{d^2}{ds^2}g_{t,s}^{(i)}|_{s=0} = k_t^{(i)},$$

🖉 Springer

and

$$\frac{d}{ds}\operatorname{scal}(g_{t,s}^{(i)})|_{s=0} = 0.$$

since $h_t^{(i)}$ is a TT-tensor. Next,

$$\frac{d^2}{ds^2}\operatorname{scal}(g_{t,s}^{(i)})|_{s=0} = D_g\operatorname{scal}(k_t^{(i)}) + D_g^2\operatorname{scal}(h_t^{(i)}, h_t^{(i)}).$$

Taylor expansion gives us that the scalar curvature term in Eq. (12) is

$$scal(g_t^{(i)}) = scal(g_{t,1}^{(i)})$$

= scal(g) + D_g scal(k_t⁽ⁱ⁾) + D_g² scal(h_t⁽ⁱ⁾, h_t⁽ⁱ⁾)
+ $\frac{1}{2} \int_0^1 (1-s)^2 \frac{d^3}{ds^3} scal(g_{t,s}^{(i)}) ds,$

so Eq. (12) can be written as

$$D_g \operatorname{scal}(k_t^{(i+1)}) + D_g^2 \operatorname{scal}(h_t^{(i+1)}, h_t^{(i+1)}) = \frac{t^2}{2} f_t - \frac{1}{2} S_t^{(i)},$$
(19)

where

$$S_t^{(i)} := \int_0^1 (1-s)^2 \frac{d^3}{ds^3} \operatorname{scal}\left(g + sh_t^{(i)} + \frac{s^2}{2}k_t^{(i)}\right) ds$$

In the same way, we have

$$\frac{d}{ds}dV(g_{t,s}^{(i)})|_{s=0} = 0,$$

and

$$\frac{d^2}{ds^2}dV(g_{t,s}^{(i)})|_{s=0} = D_g dV(k_t^{(i)}) + D_g^2 dV(h_t^{(i)}, h_t^{(i)}),$$

so Taylor expansion gives us

$$dV(g_t^{(i)}) = dV(g_{t,1}^{(i)})$$

= $dV(g) + D_g dV(k_t^{(i)}) + D_g^2 dV(h_t^{(i)}, h_t^{(i)})$
+ $\frac{1}{2} \int_0^1 (1-s)^2 \frac{d^3}{ds^3} dV(g_{t,s}^{(i)}) ds,$

and Eq. (13) can be written as

$$D_g dV(k_t^{(i+1)}) + D_g^2 dV(h_t^{(i+1)}, h_t^{(i+1)}) = -\frac{1}{2} V_t^{(i)} dV(g),$$
(20)

where

$$V_t^{(i)} dV(g) := \int_0^1 (1-s)^2 \frac{d^3}{ds^3} dV \left(g + sh_t^{(i)} + \frac{s^2}{2}k_t^{(i)}\right) ds.$$

Let us now turn these formulas into definitions for $k^{(i+1)}$ and $h^{(i+1)}$, where we again use the splitting $k_t^{(i)} = \frac{1}{n} (\operatorname{tr}^g k_t^{(i)})g + \mathring{k}_t^{(i)}$ into the pure trace part and the tracefree part.

For this purpose, observe first that (20) tells us that

$$D_g dV(k_t^{(i+1)}) + D_g^2 dV(h_t^{(i+1)}, h_t^{(i+1)}) = \left(\frac{1}{2}\operatorname{tr}^g k_t^{(i+1)} - \frac{1}{2}|h_t^{(i+1)}|_g^2\right) dV(g)$$
$$= -\frac{1}{2}V_t^{(i)}dV(g),$$

and we find that

$$\operatorname{tr}^{g} k_{t}^{(i+1)} = |h_{t}^{(i+1)}|_{g}^{2} - V_{t}^{(i)}.$$
(21)

Let us assume that this holds for the moment. Then by integrating Eq. (19) and using (21) we get

$$\begin{split} &\int_{M} \left(\frac{t^{2}}{2} f_{t} - \frac{1}{2} S_{t}^{(i)} \right) \, dV^{g} \\ &= \int_{M} \left(D_{g} \operatorname{scal}(k_{t}^{(i+1)}) + D_{g}^{2} \operatorname{scal}(h_{t}^{(i+1)}, h_{t}^{(i+1)}) \right) \, dV^{g} \\ &= \int_{M} \left((\Delta - \sigma) \left(\operatorname{tr}^{g} k_{t}^{(i+1)} - |h_{t}^{(i+1)}|_{g}^{2} \right) + \delta(\delta k_{t}^{(i+1)} + \delta' h_{t}^{(i+1)}) - \frac{1}{2} \langle \Delta_{E} h_{t}^{(i+1)}, h_{t}^{(i+1)} \rangle \right) \, dV^{g} \\ &= \int_{M} \left(\sigma V_{t}^{(i)} - \frac{1}{2} \langle \Delta_{E} h_{t}^{(i+1)}, h_{t}^{(i+1)} \rangle \right) \, dV^{g}, \end{split}$$

and using (6) we have

$$\int_{M} \left(\frac{t^2}{2} f_t - \frac{1}{2} S_t^{(i)} - \sigma V_t^{(i)} \right) dV^g = \begin{cases} F_0 t^2 (1 + \lambda_t^{(i+1)})^2, & \text{if } F_0 \neq 0, \\ -t^2 \lambda_t^{(i+1)}, & \text{if } F_0 = 0. \end{cases}$$
(22)

We see that (22) defines $\lambda_t^{(i+1)}$ and hence $h_t^{(i+1)}$. We determine then tr^g $k_t^{(i+1)}$ from (21).

Finally, with $k_t^{(i)} = \frac{1}{n} (\operatorname{tr}^g k_t^{(i)})g + \mathring{k}_t^{(i)}$ where $\operatorname{tr}^g \mathring{k}_t^{(i)} = 0$, Eq. (19) becomes

$$(\Delta - \sigma) \left(\operatorname{tr}^{g} k_{t}^{(i+1)} - |h_{t}^{(i+1)}|_{g}^{2} \right) + \delta \left(\frac{1}{n} d \operatorname{tr}^{g} k_{t}^{(i+1)} + \delta \mathring{k}_{t}^{(i+1)} + \delta' h_{t}^{(i+1)} \right)$$
$$- \frac{1}{2} \langle \Delta_{E} h_{t}^{(i+1)}, h_{t}^{(i+1)} \rangle = \frac{t^{2}}{2} f_{t} - \frac{1}{2} S_{t}^{(i)}$$

or with (21),

$$\delta\left(\delta \hat{k}_{t}^{(i+1)}\right) = \frac{t^{2}}{2}f_{t} - \frac{1}{2}S_{t}^{(i)} + (\Delta - \sigma)V_{t}^{(i)} + \frac{1}{2}\langle\Delta_{E}h_{t}^{(i+1)}, h_{t}^{(i+1)}\rangle - \delta\left(\frac{1}{n}d\operatorname{tr}^{g}k_{t}^{(i+1)} + \delta'h_{t}^{(i+1)}\right).$$

Therefore,

$$\hat{k}_{t}^{(i+1)} = Q\left(\frac{t^{2}}{2}f_{t} - \frac{1}{2}S_{t}^{(i)} + (\Delta - \sigma)V_{t}^{(i)} + \frac{1}{2}\langle\Delta_{E}h_{t}^{(i+1)}, h_{t}^{(i+1)}\rangle - \delta\left(\frac{1}{n}d\operatorname{tr}^{g}k_{t}^{(i+1)} + \delta'h_{t}^{(i+1)}\right)\right).$$
(23)

Using (21), (22), (23) we will continue the estimates for a contraction.

Step 5: Estimates for convergence. We will now find estimates for the functions $S_t^{(i)}$ and $V_t^{(i)}$. We set $w^{(i)} := sh_t^{(i)} + \frac{s^2}{2}k_t^{(i)}$ so that $g_{t,s}^{(i)} = g + w^{(i)}$. Further, set $\tilde{g}_r^{(i+1)} := g + rw^{(i+1)} + (1-r)w^{(i)}$. We have

$$scal(g_{t,s}^{(i+1)}) - scal(g_{t,s}^{(i)}) = scal(g + w^{(i+1)}) - scal(g + w^{(i)})$$
$$= \int_0^1 \frac{d}{dr} scal(\tilde{g}_r^{(i+1)}) dr$$
$$= \int_0^1 D_{\tilde{g}_r^{(i+1)}} scal(w^{(i+1)} - w^{(i)}) dr.$$

This gives us

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{d^3}{ds^3} \left(\operatorname{scal}(g_{t,s}^{(i+1)}) - \operatorname{scal}(g_{t,s}^{(i)}) \right) \\ &= \frac{d^3}{ds^3} \int_0^1 D_{\tilde{g}_r^{(i+1)}} \operatorname{scal}(w^{(i+1)} - w^{(i)}) \, dr \\ &= \int_0^1 \frac{d^3}{ds^3} \left(D_{\tilde{g}_r^{(i+1)}} \operatorname{scal} \right) (w^{(i+1)} - w^{(i)}) \, dr \\ &+ 3 \int_0^1 \frac{d^2}{ds^2} \left(D_{\tilde{g}_r^{(i+1)}} \operatorname{scal} \right) \left(\frac{d}{ds} (w^{(i+1)} - w^{(i)}) \right) dr \end{aligned}$$

$$+3\int_{0}^{1} \frac{d}{ds} \left(D_{\tilde{g}_{r}^{(i+1)}} \operatorname{scal} \right) \left(\frac{d^{2}}{ds^{2}} (w^{(i+1)} - w^{(i)}) \right) dr$$

$$= \int_{0}^{1} \frac{d^{3}}{ds^{3}} \left(D_{\tilde{g}_{r}^{(i+1)}} \operatorname{scal} \right) \left(s(h_{t}^{(i+1)} - h_{t}^{(i)}) + \frac{s^{2}}{2} (k_{t}^{(i+1)} - k_{t}^{(i)}) \right) dr$$

$$+3\int_{0}^{1} \frac{d^{2}}{ds^{2}} \left(D_{\tilde{g}_{r}^{(i+1)}} \operatorname{scal} \right) \left((h_{t}^{(i+1)} - h_{t}^{(i)}) + s(k_{t}^{(i+1)} - k_{t}^{(i)}) \right) dr$$

$$+3\int_{0}^{1} \frac{d}{ds} \left(D_{\tilde{g}_{r}^{(i+1)}} \operatorname{scal} \right) \left(k_{t}^{(i+1)} - k_{t}^{(i)} \right) dr.$$
(24)

For the three terms here we have

$$\begin{split} \frac{d^3}{ds^3} \left(D_{\tilde{g}_r^{(i+1)}} \operatorname{scal} \right) \left(s(h_t^{(i+1)} - h_t^{(i)}) + \frac{s^2}{2} (k_t^{(i+1)} - k_t^{(i)}) \right) \\ &= \frac{d^2}{ds^2} \left(D_{\tilde{g}_r^{(i+1)}}^2 \operatorname{scal} \right) \left(\frac{d}{ds} \tilde{g}_r^{(i+1)}, s(h_t^{(i+1)} - h_t^{(i)}) + \frac{s^2}{2} (k_t^{(i+1)} - k_t^{(i)}) \right) \\ &= \frac{d^2}{ds^2} \left(D_{\tilde{g}_r^{(i+1)}}^2 \operatorname{scal} \right) \left(r(h_t^{(i+1)} + sk_t^{(i+1)}) + (1 - r)(h_t^{(i)} + sk_t^{(i)}), s(h_t^{(i+1)} - h_t^{(i)}) + \frac{s^2}{2} (k_t^{(i+1)} - k_t^{(i)}) \right) \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \frac{d^2}{ds^2} \left(D_{\tilde{g}_r^{(i+1)}} \operatorname{scal} \right) \left((h_t^{(i+1)} - h_t^{(i)}) + s(k_t^{(i+1)} - k_t^{(i)}) \right) \\ &= \frac{d}{ds} \left(D_{\tilde{g}_r^{(i+1)}}^2 \operatorname{scal} \right) \left(\frac{d}{ds} \tilde{g}_r^{(i+1)}, (h_t^{(i+1)} - h_t^{(i)}) + s(k_t^{(i+1)} - k_t^{(i)}) \right) \\ &= \frac{d}{ds} \left(D_{\tilde{g}_r^{(i+1)}}^2 \operatorname{scal} \right) \left(r(h_t^{(i+1)} + sk_t^{(i+1)}) + (1 - r)(h_t^{(i)} + sk_t^{(i)}), (h_t^{(i+1)} - h_t^{(i)}) + s(k_t^{(i+1)} - k_t^{(i)}) \right) \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{d}{ds} \left(D_{\tilde{g}_{r}^{(i+1)}} \operatorname{scal} \right) \left(k_{t}^{(i+1)} - k_{t}^{(i)} \right) \\ &= D_{\tilde{g}_{r}^{(i+1)}}^{2} \operatorname{scal} \left(\frac{d}{ds} \tilde{g}_{r}^{(i+1)}, k_{t}^{(i+1)} - k_{t}^{(i)} \right) \\ &= D_{\tilde{g}_{r}^{(i+1)}}^{2} \operatorname{scal} \left(r(h_{t}^{(i+1)} + sk_{t}^{(i+1)}) + (1-r)(h_{t}^{(i)} + sk_{t}^{(i)}), k_{t}^{(i+1)} - k_{t}^{(i)} \right). \end{aligned}$$

The operator $D^2_{\tilde{g}^{(i+1)}_r}$ scal has the schematic form

$$D^{2}_{\tilde{g}^{(i+1)}}\operatorname{scal}(h_{1},h_{2}) = \nabla^{2}h_{1} * h_{2} + \nabla h_{1} * \nabla h_{2} + h_{1} * \nabla^{2}h_{2} + S * \nabla h_{1} * h_{2} + T * h_{1} * \nabla h_{2} + R * h_{1} * h_{2},$$

see for example Lemma A.3 in [29]. Here the "*" denotes product of tensors in coordinates, followed by a combination of index raising, (anti-)symmetrizing, and contractions. The expressions S, T involve the metric $\tilde{g}_r^{(i+1)}$ and its first derivatives. The expression R involves the metric $\tilde{g}_r^{(i+1)}$ and its first and second derivatives. The first order terms come from the fact that we change from the covariant derivative

of $\tilde{g}_r^{(i+1)}$ to the covariant derivative ∇ of g. The operators $\frac{d}{ds} \left(D_{\tilde{g}_r^{(i+1)}}^2 \operatorname{scal} \right)$ and $\frac{d^2}{ds^2} \left(D_{\tilde{g}_r^{(i+1)}}^2 \operatorname{scal} \right)$ have similar schematic forms. From (24) we thus find from standard estimates that

$$\begin{split} & \left| \int_{M} \left(S_{t}^{(i+1)} - S_{t}^{(i)} \right) \, dV^{g} \right| \\ & \leq \int_{M} \int_{0}^{1} (1 - s)^{2} \left| \frac{d^{3}}{ds^{3}} \left(\operatorname{scal}(g_{t,s}^{(i+1)}) - \operatorname{scal}(g_{t,s}^{(i)}) \right) \right| \, ds \, dV^{g} \\ & \leq C \left(\left\| h_{t}^{(i)} \right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} + \left\| h_{t}^{(i+1)} \right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} + \left\| k_{t}^{(i)} \right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} + \left\| k_{t}^{(i+1)} \right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} \right) \\ & \quad \cdot \left(\| (h_{t}^{(i+1)} - h_{t}^{(i)}) \|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} + \| k_{t}^{(i+1)} - k_{t}^{(i)} \|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} \right), \end{split}$$

$$(25)$$

as long as the $h_t^{(i)}$, $h_t^{(i+1)}$, $k_t^{(i)}$, $k_t^{(i+1)}$ are bounded in the $\psi^2 \phi^2 H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}$ norm. From (24) together with Theorem 3.3 we have

$$\begin{split} \left\| S_{t}^{(i+1)} - S_{t}^{(i)} \right\|_{\psi^{2} H_{\phi,\psi}^{k}} \\ &\leq C \left(\left\| h_{t}^{(i)} \right\|_{\psi^{2} \phi^{2} H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} + \left\| h_{t}^{(i+1)} \right\|_{\psi^{2} \phi^{2} H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} + \left\| k_{t}^{(i)} \right\|_{\psi^{2} \phi^{2} H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} + \left\| k_{t}^{(i+1)} \right\|_{\psi^{2} \phi^{2} H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} \right) \\ & \cdot \left(\left\| (h_{t}^{(i+1)} - h_{t}^{(i)}) \right\|_{\psi^{2} \phi^{2} H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} + \left\| k_{t}^{(i+1)} - k_{t}^{(i)} \right\|_{\psi^{2} \phi^{2} H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} \right). \end{split}$$

$$(26)$$

Next, we have

$$\left(V_t^{(i+1)} - V_t^{(i)}\right) dV(g) = \int_0^1 (1-s)^2 \frac{d^3}{ds^3} \left(dV(g_{t,s}^{(i+1)}) - dV(g_{t,s}^{(i)}) \right) ds,$$

and we get similar estimate as above, but with no decrease in derivatives. First,

$$\begin{split} \left| \int_{M} \left(V_{t}^{(i+1)} - V_{t}^{(i)} \right) \, dV^{g} \right| \\ &\leq C \left(\left\| h_{t}^{(i)} \right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k}} + \left\| h_{t}^{(i+1)} \right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k}} + \left\| k_{t}^{(i)} \right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k}} + \left\| k_{t}^{(i+1)} \right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k}} \right) \\ &\quad \cdot \left(\left\| (h_{t}^{(i+1)} - h_{t}^{(i)}) \right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k}} + \left\| k_{t}^{(i+1)} - k_{t}^{(i)} \right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k}} \right), \end{split}$$

$$(27)$$

and second

$$\begin{split} \left\| V_{t}^{(i+1)} - V_{t}^{(i)} \right\|_{\psi^{2} H_{\phi,\psi}^{k}} \\ &\leq C \left(\left\| h_{t}^{(i)} \right\|_{\psi^{2} \phi^{2} H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} + \left\| h_{t}^{(i+1)} \right\|_{\psi^{2} \phi^{2} H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} + \left\| k_{t}^{(i)} \right\|_{\psi^{2} \phi^{2} H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} + \left\| k_{t}^{(i+1)} \right\|_{\psi^{2} \phi^{2} H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} \right) \quad (28) \\ & \cdot \left(\left\| (h_{t}^{(i+1)} - h_{t}^{(i)}) \right\|_{\psi^{2} \phi^{2} H_{\phi,\psi}^{k}} + \left\| k_{t}^{(i+1)} - k_{t}^{(i)} \right\|_{\psi^{2} \phi^{2} H_{\phi,\psi}^{k}} \right). \end{split}$$

Step 6: Convergence. From (22) we get

$$-\int_{N} \left(\frac{1}{2} \left(S_{t}^{(i+1)} - S_{t}^{(i)} \right) + \sigma \left(V_{t}^{(i+1)} - V_{t}^{(i)} \right) \right) dV^{g}$$
$$= \begin{cases} F_{0}t^{2} \left((1 + \lambda_{t}^{(i+2)})^{2} - (1 + \lambda_{t}^{(i+1)})^{2} \right), & \text{if } F_{0} \neq 0, \\ t^{2} \left(\lambda_{t}^{(i+2)} - \lambda_{t}^{(i+1)} \right), & \text{if } F_{0} = 0. \end{cases}$$

Thus by (25) and (27) we find

$$t^{2}|\lambda_{t}^{(i+2)} - \lambda_{t}^{(i+1)}| \\ \leq C\left(\|(h_{t}^{(i+1)} - h_{t}^{(i)})\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} + \|k_{t}^{(i+1)} - k_{t}^{(i)}\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}}\right).$$

Therefore,

$$\begin{split} \left\| h_{t}^{(i+2)} - h_{t}^{(i+1)} \right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}}^{2} \\ &\leq Ct^{2} \left| \lambda_{t}^{(i+2)} - \lambda_{t}^{(i+1)} \right| \\ &\leq C \left(\left\| h_{t}^{(i)} \right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} + \left\| h_{t}^{(i+1)} \right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} + \left\| k_{t}^{(i)} \right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} + \left\| k_{t}^{(i+1)} \right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} \right) \\ &\cdot \left(\left\| (h_{t}^{(i+1)} - h_{t}^{(i)}) \right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}}^{2} + \left\| k_{t}^{(i+1)} - k_{t}^{(i)} \right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}}^{2} \right), \end{split}$$

$$(29)$$

which is valid as long as the $h_t^{(i)}$, $k_t^{(i)}$ are uniformly bounded in $\psi^2 \phi^2 \mathring{H}_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}$. Note that the first estimate of the $\psi^2 \phi^2 H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}$ norm follows since the $h_t^{(i)}$ are in a 1-dimensional family.

Next, we find a contraction bound for $\operatorname{tr}^{g} k_{t}^{(i)}$. From (21) we have

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{tr}^{g} k_{t}^{(i+2)} &- \operatorname{tr}^{g} k_{t}^{(i+1)} \\ &= |h_{t}^{(i+2)}|_{g}^{2} - |h_{t}^{(i+1)}|_{g}^{2} - \left(V_{t}^{(i+1)} - V_{t}^{(i)}\right) \\ &= \left\langle h_{t}^{(i+2)} + h_{t}^{(i+1)}, h_{t}^{(i+2)} - h_{t}^{(i+1)} \right\rangle - \left(V_{t}^{(i+1)} - V_{t}^{(i)}\right), \end{split}$$

so by (29) and (28) we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \operatorname{tr}^{g} k_{t}^{(i+2)} - \operatorname{tr}^{g} k_{t}^{(i+1)} \right\|_{\psi^{2} \phi^{2} H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} \\ &\leq C \left(\left\| h_{t}^{(i)} \right\|_{\psi^{2} \phi^{2} H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} + \left\| h_{t}^{(i+1)} \right\|_{\psi^{2} \phi^{2} H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} + \left\| k_{t}^{(i)} \right\|_{\psi^{2} \phi^{2} H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} + \left\| k_{t}^{(i+1)} \right\|_{\psi^{2} \phi^{2} H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} \right) \\ & \cdot \left(\left\| (h_{t}^{(i+1)} - h_{t}^{(i)}) \right\|_{\psi^{2} \phi^{2} H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} + \left\| k_{t}^{(i+1)} - k_{t}^{(i)} \right\|_{\psi^{2} \phi^{2} H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} \right). \end{aligned}$$

$$(30)$$

Finally, we prove a contraction bound for $\mathring{k}_t^{(i)}$. For this, we write (23) as

$$\mathring{k}_t^{(i+1)} := Q(f_t^{(i+1)}),$$

where

$$\begin{split} f_t^{(i+1)} &:= \frac{t^2}{2} f_t - \frac{1}{2} S_t^{(i)} + (\Delta - \sigma) V_t^{(i)} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \langle \Delta_E h_t^{(i+1)}, h_t^{(i+1)} \rangle - \delta \left(\frac{1}{n} d \operatorname{tr}^g k_t^{(i+1)} + \delta' h_t^{(i+1)} \right). \end{split}$$

Thus $\mathring{k}_t^{(i+2)} - \mathring{k}_t^{(i+1)} = Q(f_t^{(i+2)} - f_t^{(i+1)})$, where

$$\begin{split} f_t^{(i+2)} - f_t^{(i+1)} &:= -\frac{1}{2} \left(S_t^{(i+1)} - S_t^{(i)} \right) + (\Delta - \sigma) \left(V_t^{(i+1)} - V_t^{(i)} \right) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \left(\langle \Delta_E h_t^{(i+2)}, h_t^{(i+2)} \rangle - \langle \Delta_E h_t^{(i+1)}, h_t^{(i+1)} \rangle \right) \\ &- \delta \left(\frac{1}{n} d \left(\operatorname{tr}^g k_t^{(i+2)} - \operatorname{tr}^g k_t^{(i+1)} \right) + \delta' h_t^{(i+2)} - \delta' h_t^{(i+1)} \right). \end{split}$$

To apply the estimate (3), we need to estimate the $\psi^2 H_{\phi,\psi}^k$ -norm of the above. The first two terms on the left hand side can be estimated using (26) and (28) and the remaining terms can be estimated using (29) and (30). We thus get

$$\begin{split} & \|\hat{k}_{t}^{(i+2)} - \hat{k}_{t}^{(i+1)}\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} \\ & \leq C\left(\left\|h_{t}^{(i)}\right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} + \left\|h_{t}^{(i+1)}\right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} + \left\|k_{t}^{(i)}\right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} + \left\|k_{t}^{(i+1)}\right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}}\right) \qquad (31) \\ & \cdot \left(\|(h_{t}^{(i+1)} - h_{t}^{(i)})\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} + \|k_{t}^{(i+1)} - k_{t}^{(i)}\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}}\right). \end{split}$$

Finally, there exists an $\epsilon > 0$ such that if

$$\left\|h_{t}^{(i)}\right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}}+\left\|h_{t}^{(i+1)}\right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}}+\left\|k_{t}^{(i)}\right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}}+\left\|k_{t}^{(i+1)}\right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}}<\epsilon,$$
(32)

we get from (29), (30) and (31) the contraction property

$$\begin{split} \|(h_t^{(i+2)} - h_t^{(i+1)})\|_{\psi^2 \phi^2 H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} + \|k_t^{(i+2)} - k_t^{(i+1)}\|_{\psi^2 \phi^2 H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} \\ & \leq \frac{1}{3} \left(\|(h_t^{(i+1)} - h_t^{(i)})\|_{\psi^2 \phi^2 H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} + \|k_t^{(i+1)} - k_t^{(i)}\|_{\psi^2 \phi^2 H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} \right). \end{split}$$

By a standard induction argument we show that (32) holds for all *i*. By the first step of the proof, we can choose *t* so small that

$$\left\|h_{t}^{(0)}\right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}}+\left\|h_{t}^{(1)}\right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}}+\left\|k_{t}^{(0)}\right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}}+\left\|k_{t}^{(1)}\right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}}<\frac{\epsilon}{5},$$
(33)

and (32) is shown for i = 0. Suppose that it holds for i, then the triangle inequality, the contraction property and (33) yield

$$\begin{split} \left\|h_{t}^{(i+1)}\right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} + \left\|h_{t}^{(i+2)}\right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} + \left\|k_{t}^{(i+1)}\right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} + \left\|k_{t}^{(i+2)}\right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} \\ &\leq \left\|h_{t}^{(0)}\right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} + \left\|h_{t}^{(1)}\right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} + \left\|k_{t}^{(0)}\right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} + \left\|k_{t}^{(1)}\right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} \\ &+ \sum_{j=0}^{i} \left(\left\|(h_{t}^{(j+1)} - h_{t}^{(j)})\right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} + \left\|k_{t}^{(j+1)} - k_{t}^{(j)}\right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}}\right) \\ &+ \sum_{j=0}^{i} \left(\left\|(h_{t}^{(j+2)} - h_{t}^{(j+1)})\right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} + \left\|k_{t}^{(j+2)} - k_{t}^{(j+1)}\right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}}\right) \\ &\leq \left\|h_{t}^{(0)}\right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} + \left\|h_{t}^{(1)}\right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} + \left\|k_{t}^{(0)}\right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} + \left\|k_{t}^{(1)}\right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} \right) \\ &\leq \left\|h_{t}^{(0)}\right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} + \left\|h_{t}^{(1)}\right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} + \left\|k_{t}^{(0)}\right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} + \left\|k_{t}^{(1)}\right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} \right) \\ &\leq \left\|h_{t}^{(0)}\right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} + \left\|h_{t}^{(1)}\right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} + \left\|k_{t}^{(1)} - k_{t}^{(0)}\right\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} \right) \\ &< \frac{\epsilon}{5} + \sum_{j=0}^{i} \left(\frac{1}{3^{j}} + \frac{1}{3^{j+1}}\right) \cdot \frac{2\epsilon}{5} < \epsilon, \end{split}$$

so (32) does also hold for i + 1. The contraction property implies that the sequences $h_t^{(i)}, k_t^{(i)}$ converge in $\psi^2 \phi^2 H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}$ to limits $h_t^{(\infty)}, k_t^{(\infty)}$. From (12) and (13) we see that the metric $g_t^{(\infty)} := g + h_t^{(\infty)} + \frac{1}{2}k_t^{(\infty)}$ satisfies (8) and (9). It is clear from the construction that $g_0^{(\infty)} = g, \frac{d}{dt}g_t^{(\infty)}|_{t=0} = h$, and $g_t^{(\infty)} = g$ outside of Ω .

Step 7: Regularity. The last step of the proof is to show that the metric $g_t^{(\infty)}$ is smooth. By construction we have that $h_t^{(\infty)}$ is smooth. From (9) we have

$$dV\left(g + h_t^{(\infty)} + \frac{1}{2n}(\operatorname{tr}^g k_t^{(\infty)})g + \frac{1}{2}\mathring{k}_t^{(\infty)}\right) = dV(g).$$

Let $\{e_i\}$ be an oriented orthonormal frame for the metric g on an open set U. Then the matrix-valued function

$$\gamma_t := g_t^{(\infty)}(e_i, e_j) = \left(1 + \frac{1}{2n} \operatorname{tr}^g k_t^{(\infty)}\right) \delta_{ij} + h_t^{(\infty)}(e_i, e_j) + \frac{1}{2} \mathring{k}_t^{(\infty)}(e_i, e_j)$$

satisfies $\det(\gamma_t) = 1$, so it gives a curve of maps $\gamma_t : U \to SL(n, \mathbb{R})$. Note that the second and the third term in γ_t are both trace-free. Let $\Pi : SL(n, \mathbb{R}) \to \mathfrak{sl}(n, \mathbb{R})$ be the projection of a matrix on its trace-free part, that is $\Pi(A) = A - \frac{1}{n} \operatorname{tr}(A)I$. Since $\mathfrak{sl}(n, \mathbb{R}) = T_I SL(n, \mathbb{R})$ and $D_I \Pi = \operatorname{Id}$, there is a neighbourhood V_I of $I \in SL(n, \mathbb{R})$ and a neighbourhood V_0 of $0 \in \mathfrak{sl}(n, \mathbb{R})$ such that $\Pi : V_I \to V_0$ is a diffeomorphism. Since the curve γ_t has $\gamma_0 = I$ we thus find that if $h_t^{(\infty)} + \frac{1}{2}k_t^{(\infty)}$ is small enough we have

$$\gamma_t = \Pi^{-1} \left(h_t^{(\infty)}(e_i, e_j) + \frac{1}{2} \dot{k}_t^{(\infty)}(e_i, e_j) \right)$$

and

$$n + \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{tr}^{g} k_{t}^{(\infty)} = \operatorname{tr}(\gamma_{t}) = \operatorname{tr}\left(\Pi^{-1}\left(h_{t}^{(\infty)}(e_{i}, e_{j}) + \frac{1}{2}\mathring{k}_{t}^{(\infty)}(e_{i}, e_{j})\right)\right).$$

We conclude that $\operatorname{tr}^g k_t^{(\infty)}$ has at least the same order of regularity as $\mathring{k}_t^{(\infty)}$. From (23) we have

$$\begin{split} \mathring{k}_t^{(\infty)} &= Q\bigg(\frac{t^2}{2}f_t - \frac{1}{2}S_t^{(\infty)} + (\Delta - \sigma)V_t^{(\infty)} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2}\langle \Delta_E h_t^{(\infty)}, h_t^{(\infty)} \rangle - \delta\left(\frac{1}{n}d\operatorname{tr}^g k_t^{(\infty)} + \delta'h_t^{(\infty)}\right)\bigg), \end{split}$$

so by (3), the regularity of $\hat{k}_t^{(\infty)}$ is two orders higher than the argument of Q in the left hand side. By bootstrapping, we see that $\operatorname{tr}^g k_t^{(\infty)}$ and $\hat{k}_t^{(\infty)}$ are both smooth.

This finishes the proof of Theorem 4.1.

Remark 4.3 If (M, g) is Ricci-flat and we drop the assumption of preserving the volume element, we can weaken the warped product assumption in Theorem 4.1. In this case, we may not allow (M, g) to be locally a pure product but it can be a Ricci-flat cone. The reason is the extension of the domain of definition of $P = \delta^2$ from trace-free symmetric two-tensors to all symmetric two-tensors. Then the formal adjoint P^* of P is the Hessian ∇^2 and not its trace-free part $\mathring{\nabla}^2$ and the assumption ker $(P^*) = \{0\}$ leads to weaker geometric conclusions.

5 A generalized λ -functional

Let (M, \hat{g}) be a compact Riemannian manifold with smooth (but possibly empty) boundary and let $\mathcal{M}_{\hat{g}}^{\infty}$ be the set of smooth metrics on M such that $g - \hat{g}$ vanishes to every order at ∂M . Let $C^{\infty}(M)$ be the set of smooth functions on M. For $\alpha > 0$, define

$$F_{\alpha}: \mathcal{M}_{\hat{g}}^{\infty} \times C^{\infty}(M) \to \mathbb{R}, \quad F_{\alpha}(g, f) := \int_{M} \left(\operatorname{scal} + \alpha |\nabla f|^{2} \right) e^{-f} dV,$$

and

$$\lambda_{\alpha}(g) := \inf \left\{ F_{\alpha}(g, f) \mid f \in C^{\infty}(M), \int_{M} e^{-f} dV = 1 \right\}.$$

For closed manifolds and with $\alpha = 1$, this is the λ -functional introduced by Perelman [37]. The parameter-dependent version has been used in different contexts, see for example [4, 33].

The substitution $\omega = e^{-\frac{f}{2}}$ shows that

$$\lambda_{\alpha}(g) = \inf \left\{ G_{\alpha}(g, \omega) \mid \omega \in C^{\infty}_{+}(M), \int_{M} \omega^{2} dV = 1 \right\},\$$

where

$$G(g,\omega) := \int_M (4\alpha |\nabla \omega|^2 + \operatorname{scal} \omega^2) \, dV.$$

By standard theory, $\lambda_{\alpha}(g)$ is the smallest (Neumann) eigenvalue of the Schrödinger operator $4\alpha\Delta + \text{scal}$. Moreover, the minimizing function ω_g is the unique eigenfunction of constant positive sign satisfying the normalization condition $\int_M \omega^2 dV = 1$. Therefore, the minimizer $f_g = -2 \log(\omega_g)$ of $F_{\alpha}(g, f)$ satisfies

$$-2\alpha\Delta f_g - \alpha |\nabla f_g|^2 + \operatorname{scal} = \lambda_\alpha(g), \quad \nabla_\nu f_g = 0.$$
(34)

Remark 5.1 If one works on manifolds with boundary, one could either consider the smallest Dirichlet or the smallest Neumann eigenvalue of $4\alpha\Delta + \text{scal}$. It turns out that if we consider the smallest Neumann eigenvalue, the variational theory of the functional is much simpler and in fact almost parallel to the case of closed manifolds.

The following lemma is elementary, but we use it later in an essential way.

Lemma 5.2 Let (M, g) be a compact manifold with or without boundary and let $\alpha > 0$. If scal $\geq c$ for some constant $c \in \mathbb{R}$, we have $\lambda_{\alpha}(g) \geq c$. Moreover, if scal $\neq c$, then $\lambda_{\alpha}(g) > c$. **Proof** Let ω be the positive eigenfunction of the operator $4\alpha \Delta + \text{scal}$ with eigenvalue $\lambda_{\alpha}(g)$ and the normalization condition $\int_{M} \omega^2 dV = 1$. Then

$$\lambda_{\alpha}(g) = \int_{M} (4\alpha |\nabla \omega|^{2} + \operatorname{scal} \omega^{2}) \, dV \ge \int_{M} \operatorname{scal} \omega^{2} \, dV \ge c.$$

Suppose now that scal $\neq c$. We may assume that $c = \min_M$ scal. Then scal is nonconstant so ω has to be nonconstant as well. Consequently, the function $|\nabla \omega|^2$ does not vanish identically and the first of the two inequalities above is strict. This proves the lemma.

Throughout the following sections, we write f instead of f_g for the minimizer f_g in the definition of $\lambda_{\alpha}(g)$, whenever it is clear from the context which metric we consider.

5.1 The first variation formula

Proposition 5.3 *The first variation of* $\lambda_{\alpha}(g)$ *is given by*

$$D_{g}\lambda_{\alpha}(h) = -\int_{M} \langle \operatorname{Ric} + \nabla^{2} f - (\alpha - 1)\nabla f \otimes \nabla f, h \rangle e^{-f} dV + \int_{M} \left\langle \frac{1}{2} \left(1 - \frac{1}{\alpha} \right) (\operatorname{scal} - \lambda_{\alpha}(g))g + \frac{1}{2} (\alpha - 1) |\nabla f|^{2} g, h \right\rangle e^{-f} dV.$$

This formula implies three assertions:

- (i) Constant scalar curvature metrics are critical points with respect to volumepreserving conformal deformations.
- (ii) Einstein metrics are critical points with respect to volume-preserving deformations.
- (iii) Ricci-flat metrics are critical points in full generality.

Proof We first compute

$$\int_{M} \Delta \operatorname{tr} h \cdot e^{-f} \, dV = \int_{M} \operatorname{tr} h(-\Delta f - |\nabla f|^{2})e^{-f} \, dV,$$
$$\int_{M} \delta(\delta h) \cdot e^{-f} \, dV = \int_{M} \langle h, \nabla^{2}e^{-f} \rangle \, dV$$
$$= \int_{M} \left(h(\nabla f, \nabla f) - \langle h, \nabla^{2}f \rangle \right) e^{-f} \, dV,$$
$$2 \int_{M} \langle \nabla v, \nabla f \rangle e^{-f} \, dV = 2 \int_{M} v(\Delta f + |\nabla f|^{2}) \, dV,$$

where we use that *h* vanishes to any order at ∂N and $\nabla_{\nu} f = 0$. We denote the derivative with respect to *t* at t = 0 by a prime. We get

$$\frac{d}{dt}F_{\alpha}(g+th, f+tv)|_{t=0}$$

$$\begin{split} &= \int_{M} \left((\operatorname{scal}') + \alpha (|\nabla f|^{2})' \right) dV + \int_{M} (\operatorname{scal} + \alpha |\nabla f|^{2}) (e^{-f} dV)' \\ &= \int_{M} (\Delta \operatorname{tr} h + \delta(\delta h) - \langle \operatorname{Ric}, h \rangle - \alpha h(\nabla f, \nabla f) + 2\alpha \langle \nabla v, \nabla f \rangle) e^{-f} dV \\ &+ \int_{M} (\operatorname{scal} + \alpha |\nabla f|^{2}) \left(\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr} h - v \right) e^{-f} dV \\ &= \int_{M} \operatorname{tr} h(-\Delta f - |\nabla f|^{2}) e^{-f} dV + \int_{M} \left(h(\nabla f, \nabla f) - \langle h, \nabla^{2} f \rangle \right) e^{-f} dV \\ &- \int_{M} \langle \operatorname{Ric}, h \rangle e^{-f} dV - \alpha \int_{M} h(\nabla f, \nabla f) e^{-f} dV \\ &+ 2\alpha \int_{M} v(\Delta f + |\nabla f|^{2}) e^{-f} dV + \int_{M} (\operatorname{scal} + \alpha |\nabla f|^{2}) \left(\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr} h - v \right) e^{-f} dV \\ &= -\int_{M} \langle \operatorname{Ric} + \nabla^{2} f, h \rangle e^{-f} dV + (1 - \alpha) \int_{M} h(\nabla f, \nabla f) e^{-f} dV \\ &+ \int_{M} \operatorname{tr} h(-\Delta f - |\nabla f|^{2}) e^{-f} dV + \frac{1}{2} \int_{M} \operatorname{tr} h(\operatorname{scal} + \alpha |\nabla f|^{2}) e^{-f} dV \\ &- \int_{M} (\operatorname{scal} + \alpha |\nabla f|^{2}) v e^{-f} dV + \frac{1}{2} \int_{M} \operatorname{tr} h(\operatorname{scal} + \alpha |\nabla f|^{2}) e^{-f} dV \\ &= -\int_{M} (\operatorname{Ric} + \nabla^{2} f - (\alpha - 1) \nabla f \otimes \nabla f, h) e^{-f} dV \\ &+ \int_{M} (2\alpha \Delta f + \alpha |\nabla f|^{2} - \operatorname{scal}) v e^{-f} dV \\ &+ \int_{M} \operatorname{tr} h(-\Delta f + \left(\frac{\alpha}{2} - 1 \right) |\nabla f|^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{scal} \right) e^{-f} dV \\ &+ \frac{1}{2\alpha} \int_{M} \operatorname{tr} h(-2\alpha \Delta f - \alpha |\nabla f|^{2} + \operatorname{scal}) e^{-f} dV \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \left(1 - \frac{1}{\alpha} \right) \int_{M} \operatorname{tr}^{g} h \cdot \operatorname{scal} e^{-f} dV + \frac{1}{2} (\alpha - 1) \int_{M} \operatorname{tr} h |\nabla f|^{2} e^{-f} dV \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \left(1 - \frac{1}{\alpha} \right) \int_{M} \operatorname{tr} h \cdot \operatorname{scal} e^{-f} dV + \frac{1}{2} (\alpha - 1) \int_{M} \operatorname{tr} h |\nabla f|^{2} e^{-f} dV \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \left(1 - \frac{1}{\alpha} \right) \int_{M} \operatorname{tr} h \cdot \operatorname{scal} e^{-f} dV + \frac{1}{2} (\alpha - 1) \int_{M} \operatorname{tr} h |\nabla f|^{2} e^{-f} dV \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \left(1 - \frac{1}{\alpha} \right) \int_{M} \operatorname{tr} h \cdot \operatorname{scal} e^{-f} dV + \frac{1}{2} (\alpha - 1) \int_{M} \operatorname{tr} h |\nabla f|^{2} e^{-f} dV \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \left(1 - \frac{1}{\alpha} \right) (\operatorname{scal} - \lambda_{\alpha}(g)) g + \frac{1}{2} (\alpha - 1) |\nabla f|^{2} g, h) e^{-f} dV \\ &+ \int_{M} \langle \frac{1}{2} \left(1 - \frac{1}{\alpha} \right) (\operatorname{scal} - \lambda_{\alpha}(g)) g + \frac{1}{2} (\alpha - 1) |\nabla f|^{2} g, h) e^{-f} dV \\ &+ \int_{M} \langle \frac{1}{2} \left(1 - \frac{1}{\alpha} \right) (\operatorname{scal} - \lambda_{\alpha}(g)) g + \frac{1}{2} (\alpha - 1) |\nabla f|^{2} g, h) e^{-f} dV \\ &= - \int_{M} (\operatorname{Ric} + \nabla^{2} f - (\alpha - 1) \nabla f \otimes \nabla f, h) e^{-f} dV \\ &+ \int_{M} \langle \frac{1}{2} \left(1 - \frac{1}{\alpha} \right) (\operatorname{scal} - \lambda_{\alpha}(g)) g + \frac{1}{2} \left(\alpha - 1 \right) |\nabla f|^{2} g$$

 $\underline{\textcircled{O}}$ Springer

which is the first variation formula. Let us denote the weighted L^2 -gradient of λ_{α} by grad λ_{α} , that is

grad
$$\lambda_{\alpha} = -\left(\operatorname{Ric} + \nabla^{2} f - (\alpha - 1)\nabla f \otimes \nabla f\right)$$

+ $\frac{1}{2}\left(1 - \frac{1}{\alpha}\right)(\operatorname{scal}^{g} - \lambda_{\alpha}(g))g + \frac{1}{2}(\alpha - 1)|\nabla f|^{2}g.$ (35)

If g has constant scalar curvature then scal = $\lambda_{\alpha}(g)$ so f is constant as well and $\int_{M} e^{-f} dV = e^{-f} \operatorname{vol}(M, g) = 1$. Then grad $\lambda_{\alpha} = -\operatorname{Ric}$. If h = ug, we get

$$D_g \lambda_\alpha(ug) = -\int_M \operatorname{scal} u e^{-f} \, dV = -\frac{\operatorname{scal}}{\operatorname{vol}(M, g)} \int_M u \, dV,$$

and the right hand side vanishes if h = ug is volume-preserving. If moreover Ric = σg , then

$$D_g \lambda_\alpha(h) = -\int_M \langle \sigma g, h \rangle e^{-f} \, dV = -\sigma \int_M \operatorname{tr} h e^{-f} \, dV = -\frac{\sigma}{\operatorname{vol}(M, g)} \int_M \operatorname{tr} h \, dV$$

and the right hand side vanishes if *h* is a volume-preserving deformation of *g*. If $\sigma = 0$, it vanishes for all *h*.

5.2 The second variation formula

Proposition 5.4 Let (M, g) be an Einstein manifold, Ric = σg . Then, the second variation of λ_{α} in the direction of volume-preserving deformations h is given by

$$D_g^2 \lambda_\alpha(h,h) = -\frac{1}{\operatorname{vol}(M,g)} \int_M \left\langle \frac{1}{2} \Delta_E h - \delta^*(\delta h) - \frac{1}{2} \delta(\delta h)g,h \right\rangle dV$$
$$-\frac{1}{\operatorname{vol}(M,g)} \int_M v \delta(\delta h) dV$$
$$+\frac{1}{\operatorname{vol}(M,g)} \int_M ((\alpha - 1)\Delta v + \sigma v) \operatorname{tr} h dV,$$

where v is a solution of the boundary value problem

$$2\alpha\Delta v = \Delta(\operatorname{tr} h) + \delta(\delta h) - \sigma \operatorname{tr} h, \quad \nabla_{v}v = 0.$$

Proof Consider a curve g_t of metrics of constant volume with $g_0 = g$ and $\frac{d}{dt}g_t|_{t=0} = h$. Let $v := \frac{d}{dt} f_{g_t}|_{t=0}$ and $k := \frac{d^2}{dt^2} g_t|_{t=0}$. We compute

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{d^2}{dt^2} \lambda_{\alpha}(g_t)|_{t=0} &= \frac{d}{dt} \int_M \langle \operatorname{grad} \lambda_{\alpha}(g_t), h \rangle e^{-f} \, dV|_{t=0} \\ &= \int_M \langle (\operatorname{grad} \lambda_{\alpha})', h \rangle e^{-f} \, dV + \int_M \langle \operatorname{grad} \lambda_{\alpha}(g), k \rangle e^{-f} \, dV \\ &- 2 \int_M \langle \operatorname{grad} \lambda_{\alpha}, h \circ h \rangle e^{-f} \, dV \\ &+ \int_M \langle \operatorname{grad} \lambda_{\alpha}(g_t), h \rangle \left(\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr} h - v\right) e^{-f} \, dV. \end{aligned}$$

By differentiating (34) and using that f is constant, we see that v satisfies

$$2\alpha\Delta v = \Delta(\operatorname{tr} h) + \delta(\delta h) - \langle \operatorname{Ric}, h \rangle, \qquad (36)$$

and since the vector v is an outward-pointing normal for all the metrics g_t , we conclude that v vanishes on the boundary. Again since f is constant we have

$$(\operatorname{grad} \lambda_{\alpha})' = -\operatorname{Ric}' - \nabla^2 v + \frac{1}{2} \left(1 - \frac{1}{\alpha} \right) \operatorname{scal}' g$$
$$= -\left(\frac{1}{2} \Delta_L h - \delta^*(\delta h) - \frac{1}{2} \nabla^2 \operatorname{tr} h \right) - \nabla^2 v$$
$$+ \frac{1}{2} \left(1 - \frac{1}{\alpha} \right) \left(\Delta(\operatorname{tr} h) + \delta(\delta h) - \langle \operatorname{Ric}, h \rangle \right) g$$
$$= -\left(\frac{1}{2} \Delta_L h - \delta^*(\delta h) - \frac{1}{2} \nabla^2 \operatorname{tr} h \right) - \nabla^2 v + (\alpha - 1) \Delta v g,$$

where we used (36) in the last equation. Since the volume is constant along g_t we get

$$0 = \frac{d^2}{dt^2} \operatorname{vol}(M, g_t)|_{t=0} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \int_M \operatorname{tr} \dot{g}_t \, dV|_{t=0}$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \int_M \left(\operatorname{tr} k - |h|^2 + \frac{1}{2} (\operatorname{tr} h)^2 \right) \, dV.$$

From grad $\lambda_{\alpha} = -\sigma g$ we thus obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{d^2}{dt^2} \lambda_{\alpha}(g_t)|_{t=0} &= \int_M \langle (\operatorname{grad} \lambda_{\alpha})', h \rangle e^{-f} \, dV \\ &+ \sigma \int_M \operatorname{tr} k \cdot e^{-f} \, dV + 2\sigma \int_M |h|^2 e^{-f} \, dV \\ &- \frac{\sigma}{2} \int_M (\operatorname{tr} h)^2 e^{-f} \, dV + \sigma \int_M \operatorname{tr} h \cdot v e^{-f} \, dV \\ &= \int_M \langle (\operatorname{grad} \lambda_{\alpha})', h \rangle e^{-f} \, dV + \sigma \int_M |h|^2 e^{-f} \, dV \\ &+ \sigma \int_M \operatorname{tr} h \cdot v e^{-f} \, dV \\ &= -\int_M \langle \frac{1}{2} \Delta_E h - \delta^*(\delta h) - \frac{1}{2} \nabla^2 \operatorname{tr} h, h \rangle e^{-f} \, dV \\ &- \int_M \langle \nabla^2 v, h \rangle e^{-f} \, dV + \int_M \operatorname{tr} h \left((\alpha - 1) \Delta v + \sigma v e^{-f} \right) \, dV. \end{aligned}$$

Finally, recall that the formal adjoint of ∇^2 is $\delta \circ \delta$. The result now follows from integration by parts and the fact that $e^{-f} = \operatorname{vol}(M, g)^{-1}$.

Proposition 5.5 Let (M, g) be a manifold of constant scalar curvature. Then the second variation of λ_{α} in the direction of volume-preserving conformal deformations ug is given by

$$D_g^2 \lambda_\alpha(ug, ug) = -\frac{1}{\operatorname{vol}(M, g)} \int_M ((n-1)\Delta u - \operatorname{scal} u) \, u \, dV + \frac{1}{\operatorname{vol}(M, g)} \int_M ((n\alpha - (n-1)) \, \Delta v + \operatorname{scal} v) u \, dV,$$

where v is a solution of the Neumann boundary value problem

$$2\alpha\Delta v = (n-1)\Delta u - \operatorname{scal} u, \quad \nabla_v v = 0.$$

Remark 5.6 We may choose the function v as

$$v = (2\alpha\Delta)^{-1} ((n-1)\Delta - \operatorname{scal}) u,$$

where Δ^{-1} denotes the inverse of the Laplacian with Neumann boundary conditions acting on the space of functions with vanishing integral. A careful rearranging of the terms appearing above shows that the second variation can be written as

$$D_g^2 \lambda_\alpha(ug, ug) = \frac{1}{\operatorname{vol}(M, g)} \int_M (Lu) u \, dV,$$

where the operator L is defined by

$$L := ((n-1)\Delta - \operatorname{scal}) (((n-2)\alpha - (n-1))\Delta + \operatorname{scal}) \Delta^{-1}.$$

Proof Let h, k and v as in the proof of Proposition 5.4. As there, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{d^2}{dt^2} \lambda_{\alpha}(g_t)|_{t=0} &= \int_M \langle (\operatorname{grad} \lambda_{\alpha})', h \rangle e^{-f} \, dV + \int_M \langle \operatorname{grad} \lambda_{\alpha}(g), k \rangle e^{-f} \, dV \\ &- 2 \int_M \langle \operatorname{grad} \lambda_{\alpha}, h \circ h \rangle e^{-f} \, dV \\ &+ \int_M \langle \operatorname{grad} \lambda_{\alpha}(g_t), h \rangle \bigg(\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr} h - v \bigg) e^{-f} \, dV. \end{aligned}$$

Again due to the volume constraint,

$$0 = \frac{1}{2} \int_{M} \left(\operatorname{tr} k - |h|^{2} + \frac{1}{2} (\operatorname{tr} h)^{2} \right) \, dV.$$

Since we only consider conformal variations, we have $h = \frac{1}{n}(\operatorname{tr} h)g$ and $k = \frac{1}{n}(\operatorname{tr} k)g$. Since g is of constant scalar curvature, grad $\lambda_{\alpha}(g) = -\operatorname{Ric}$. Using these facts, we see that

$$\int_{M} \langle \operatorname{grad} \lambda_{\alpha}(g), k - 2h \circ h + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr} h \cdot h \rangle e^{-f} dV$$
$$= -\frac{\operatorname{scal}}{n} \int_{M} \left(\operatorname{tr} k - 2|h|^{2} + \frac{1}{2} (\operatorname{tr} h)^{2} \right) e^{-f} dV = \frac{\operatorname{scal}}{n} \int_{M} |h|^{2} e^{-f} dV,$$

and

$$\frac{d^2}{dt^2}\lambda_{\alpha}(g_t)|_{t=0} = \int_M \langle (\operatorname{grad} \lambda_{\alpha})', h \rangle e^{-f} \, dV + \frac{\operatorname{scal}}{n} \int_M \left(|h|^2 + \operatorname{tr} hv \right) e^{-f} \, dV.$$

Let us now consider the terms here in more detail. As in the previous proof, we compute

$$(\operatorname{grad} \lambda_{\alpha})' = -\left(\frac{1}{2}\Delta_L h - \delta^*(\delta h) - \frac{1}{2}\nabla^2 \operatorname{tr} h\right) - \nabla^2 v + (\alpha - 1)\Delta v \cdot g.$$

With h = ug we get

$$(\operatorname{grad} \lambda_{\alpha})' = -\left(\frac{1}{2}(\Delta u)g + (1-\frac{n}{2})\nabla^2 u\right) - \nabla^2 v + (\alpha - 1)\Delta v \cdot g,$$

which yields

$$\int_M \langle (\operatorname{grad} \lambda_\alpha)', ug \rangle e^{-f} \, dV$$

$$= -(n-1)\int_M (\Delta u)u + (n\alpha - (n-1))\int_M (\Delta v)ue^{-f} dV.$$

Furthermore,

$$\frac{\operatorname{scal}}{n} \int_M \left(|h|^2 + \operatorname{tr} hv \right) e^{-f} \, dV = \operatorname{scal} \int_M \left(u^2 + uv \right) e^{-f} \, dV.$$

Recall that $e^{-f} \equiv \operatorname{vol}(M, g)^{-1}$ since the scalar curvature is constant. Adding up and rearranging the terms yields the desired formula. The formula for *v* follows from inserting h = ug in (36).

5.3 Estimates on variations

Lemma 5.7 For all $g \in \mathcal{M}_{\hat{g}}^{\infty}$, we have the estimates

$$|D_g^2 \lambda_\alpha(h,k)| \le C \|h\|_{H^1} \|k\|_{H^1},$$

$$|D_g^3 \lambda_\alpha(h,h,h)| \le C \|h\|_{C^{2,\alpha}} \|h\|_{H^1},$$

where the constant C can be chosen uniformly for all g in a given small $C^{2,\alpha}$ -neighborhood around some fixed metric \hat{g} .

Proof The proof of these lemmas is almost identical to the proofs of Propositions 4.3 and 4.5 in [29] which build on Lemmas 4.2 and 4.4 in the same paper. The only slight difference is how elliptic regularity is applied. Let

$$\tilde{g}_t = \tilde{g} + th, \quad f_t = f_{\tilde{g}_t}, \quad v = \frac{d}{dt}|_{t=0}f_{g_t}, \quad w = \frac{d^2}{dt^2}|_{t=0}f_{g_t}, \quad h = \frac{d}{dt}|_{t=0}g_t.$$

By differentiating (34) once and twice, we get equations of the form

$$\Delta_f v := \Delta v + \langle \nabla f, \nabla v \rangle = (*),$$

$$\Delta_f w := \Delta w + \langle \nabla f, \nabla w \rangle = (**),$$

where the right hand sides do not contain derivatives of v, w respectively. Since all f_t satisfy the Neumann boundary condition with respect to a unit normal which is the same for all g_t , we see that v and w satisfy the same Neumann boundary condition. By differentiating the constraint on the minimizers $f = f_g$, we get

$$\int_{M} \left(v - \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr} h \right) e^{-f} \, dV = 0,$$
$$\int_{M} \left(w + \frac{1}{2} |h|^{2} - \left(v - \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr} h \right)^{2} \right) e^{-f} \, dV = 0.$$

Now consider the space

$$V := \left\{ u : M \to \mathbb{R} \mid \int_M u e^{-f} \, dV = 0 \right\},$$

which contains the functions

$$\widetilde{v} = v - \frac{1}{2} \int_M \operatorname{tr} h \cdot e^{-f} \, dV, \qquad \widetilde{w} = w + \int_M \left(\frac{1}{2} |h|^2 - \left(v - \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr} h \right)^2 \right) e^{-f} \, dV.$$

From that fact that Δ_f is self-adjoint with respect to the weighted $L^2(e^{-f}g)$ -scalar product together with elliptic regularity, we have isomorphisms

 $\Delta_f: C^{2,\alpha}(M) \cap V \to C^{0,\alpha}(M) \cap V, \qquad \Delta_f: H^i(M) \cap V \to H^{i-2}(M) \cap V,$

for i = 1, 2. We thus get

$$\begin{aligned} \|v\|_{C^{2,\alpha}} &\leq \|\widetilde{v}\|_{C^{2,\alpha}} + \|v - \widetilde{v}\|_{C^{2,\alpha}} \leq \left\|\Delta_f \widetilde{v}\right\|_{C^{0,\alpha}} + \|v - \widetilde{v}\|_{C^{2,\alpha}} \\ &\leq C \left\|(*)\right\|_{C^{0,\alpha}} + \|v - \widetilde{v}\|_{C^{2,\alpha}}. \end{aligned}$$

and similarly for w and the H^i -norms. The rest of the proof follows from computations and standard estimates as in [29, Section 4].

6 Global scalar curvature rigidity

This section is devoted to the proof of Theorem 1.4. For the case of the round sphere, it is well-known that the assertions of the theorem all hold. Therefore, we assume throughout this section that (M, \hat{g}) is a closed Einstein manifold which is not isometric to the round sphere. After suitable scaling, we also assume that $vol(M, \hat{g}) = 1$.

For our proof, we need to use suitable local decomposition of the space of metrics. An important decomposition is provided by Ebin's slice theorem [18] which provides a slice for the action of the diffeomorphism group. Another decomposition is provided by Koiso [25, Theorem 2.5], who constructs a slice for the action of the group $C^{\infty}_{+}(M)$, which acts by pointwise multiplication. In the following we construct a slice which is a refinement of both of these approaches. In our setting, it is convenient to work with the $C^{2,\alpha}$ -topology and we will therefore deal with the space of Riemannian metrics of $C^{2,\alpha}$ -regularity, which we denote by $C^{2,\alpha}(S^2_+M)$. In particular, we will prove Theorem 1.4 not only for smooth metrics, but also for metrics of $C^{2,\alpha}$ -regularity.

Proposition 6.1 There exists a $C^{2,\alpha}$ -neighborhood $\mathcal{U} \subset C^{2,\alpha}(S^2_+M)$ of the Einstein metric \hat{g} such that the set

$$\mathcal{C} = \mathcal{U} \cap \left\{ g \in C^{2,\alpha}(S^2_+M) \mid \text{scal}^g \text{ is constant}, \text{vol}(M,g) = 1, \delta^{\hat{g}}g = 0 \right\}$$

is an analytic Banach submanifold with $T_{\hat{g}}C = C^{2,\alpha}(TT_{\hat{g}})$.

🖉 Springer

Proof Let

$$\begin{split} V^{k,\alpha} &:= \left\{ f \in C^{k,\alpha}(M) \mid \int_{M} f \, dV^{\hat{g}} = 0 \right\}, \\ W^{k,\alpha} &:= \left\{ \delta^{\hat{g}} h \mid h \in C^{k+1,\alpha}(S^{2}M) \right\} = \left\{ \omega \in C^{k,\alpha}(T^{*}M) \mid \omega \perp_{L^{2}(\hat{g})} \ker((\delta^{\hat{g}})^{*}) \right\}, \end{split}$$

and consider the map

$$\Phi: C^{2,\alpha}(S^2_+M) \to V^{0,\alpha} \oplus \mathbb{R}_+ \oplus W^{1,\alpha},$$
$$g \mapsto \left(\operatorname{scal}^g - \int_M \operatorname{scal}^g \, dV^{\hat{g}}, \operatorname{vol}(M,g), \delta^{\hat{g}}g\right).$$

Clearly, Φ is analytic and $C = U \cap \Phi^{-1}((0, 1, 0))$. To prove the proposition, it thus suffices to show that $D_{\hat{g}}\Phi$ is surjective and to determine its kernel. Linearizing at \hat{g} yields

$$D_{\hat{g}} \Phi : C^{2,\alpha}(S^2 M) \to V^{0,\alpha} \oplus \mathbb{R} \oplus W^{1,\alpha},$$

$$h \mapsto \left(\Delta^{\hat{g}} \operatorname{tr}^{\hat{g}} h + \delta^{\hat{g}}(\delta^{\hat{g}} h) - \sigma \operatorname{tr}^{\hat{g}} h + \int_M \sigma \operatorname{tr}^{\hat{g}} h \, dV^{\hat{g}}, \frac{1}{2} \int_M \operatorname{tr}^{\hat{g}} h \, dV^{\hat{g}}, \delta^{\hat{g}} h \right),$$

(37)

where $\sigma = \frac{1}{n} \operatorname{scal}^{\hat{g}}$ is the Einstein constant of \hat{g} . Define the maps

$$L_1 := (n-1)\Delta^{\hat{g}} - n\sigma : V^{2,\alpha} \to V^{0,\alpha},$$

$$L_2 := \delta^{\hat{g}} (\delta^{\hat{g}})^* : W^{3,\alpha} \to W^{1,\alpha}.$$

For $c \in \mathbb{R}$, $u \in V^{2,\alpha}$, and $\omega \in V^{0,\alpha}$, we compute

$$D_{\hat{g}}\Phi((u+c)\hat{g}+(\delta^{\hat{g}})^*\omega) = \left(L_1(u), \frac{n}{2}c, -\nabla u + L_2(\omega)\right).$$

Since (M, \hat{g}) is not isometric to the round sphere, we have $\frac{n}{n-1}\sigma \notin \operatorname{spec}_+(\Delta_{\hat{g}})$ by the Lichnerowicz–Obata eigenvalue estimate [36]. Therefore, L_1 is an isomorphism. The operator L_2 is also an isomorphism since it is self-adjoint and its domain is the orthogonal complement of its kernel. Note also that for any $f \in V^{2,\alpha}$, ∇f is orthogonal to ker (L_2) , as $\delta^{\hat{g}}\eta = -\operatorname{tr}^{\hat{g}}(\delta^{\hat{g}})^*\eta = 0$ for any $\eta \in \operatorname{ker}(L_2)$. Thus, for

$$(v, d, w) \in V^{0, \alpha} \oplus \mathbb{R} \oplus W^{1, \alpha},$$

we have

$$D_{\hat{g}}\Phi((L_1^{-1}(v) + \frac{2}{n}d)\hat{g} + (\delta^{\hat{g}})^*(L_2)^{-1}(w + \nabla(L_1)^{-1}(v)) = (v, d, w),$$

🖄 Springer

which shows that $D_{\hat{g}}\Phi$ is surjective. Therefore, C is an analytic Banach submanifold. It remains to determine the kernel of $D_{\hat{g}}\Phi$. The inclusion $C^{2,\alpha}(TT_{\hat{g}}) \subset \ker(D_{\hat{g}})\Phi$ is clear from (37). Now suppose that $D_{\hat{g}}\Phi(h) = 0$. Then by (37), it follows that $\delta^{\hat{g}}h = 0$. Again by the Obata–Lichnerowicz eigenvalue estimate [36], $\sigma \notin \operatorname{spec}_{+}(\Delta_{\hat{g}})$. Therefore, $\operatorname{tr}^{\hat{g}}h = 0$ and $h \in C^{2,\alpha}(TT_{\hat{g}})$.

Proposition 6.2 Provided that the neighborhood \mathcal{U} of \hat{g} in Proposition 6.1 is chosen sufficiently small, there exists another $C^{2,\alpha}$ -neighborhood $\mathcal{V} \subset C^{2,\alpha}(M)$ of 1 such that

$$\Psi: \mathcal{V} \times \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{U}, \quad \Psi(f, g) = fg,$$

is a diffeomorphism onto its image. Furthermore, any metric in \mathcal{U} is isometric to a metric in the analytic submanifold

$$\mathcal{S} := \Psi(\mathcal{V} \times \mathcal{C}).$$

Proof By [6, Lemma 4.57] we have a direct sum

$$C^{2,\alpha}(M) \cdot \hat{g} \oplus C^{2,\alpha}(TT_{\hat{g}}) = T_{\hat{g}}(C^{2,\alpha}_+(M)\hat{g}) \cdot \hat{g} \oplus T_{\hat{g}}\mathcal{C},$$

which is the injective image of $D_{(1,\hat{g})}\Psi$. The first assertion follows from the implicit function theorem. For the second assertion, consider the map

$$\Theta: \mathcal{S} \times \text{Diff}^{2,\alpha}(M) \to C^{2,\alpha}(S^2_+M), \qquad \Theta(g,\varphi) = \varphi^*g.$$

The differential $D_{(1,\hat{g})}\Theta$ corresponds to the decomposition

$$C^{2,\alpha}(S^2M) = C^{2,\alpha}(M) \cdot \hat{g} \oplus C^{2,\alpha}(TT_{\hat{g}}) \oplus \delta^*_{\hat{g}}(C^{3,\alpha}(T^*M))$$
$$= T_{\hat{g}}S \oplus T_{\hat{g}}(\hat{g} \cdot \text{Diff}^{2,\alpha}(M))$$

and thus, it is surjective. Consequently, Θ is surjective near \hat{g} which proves the second assertion.

Proposition 6.3 Provided that \mathcal{U} is chosen small enough, there exists a real analytic finite-dimensional submanifold $\mathcal{Z} \subset \mathcal{C}$ whose tangent space is equal to $T_{\hat{g}}\mathcal{Z} = \ker(\Delta_E) \cap C^{2,\alpha}(TT_{\hat{g}})$ such that

$$\mathcal{E} := \left\{ g \in \mathcal{C} \mid \operatorname{Ric}^g = \frac{\operatorname{scal}^g}{n} g \right\} \subset \mathcal{Z}$$

is a real analytic subset.

🖄 Springer

Proof A similar statement is given in [26, Lemma 13.6] for maps between Hilbert spaces. The same proof however also works in our more general setting. We give the proof for the sake of completeness. Consider the real analytic map

$$\Xi: \mathcal{C} \to C^{0,\alpha}(S^2M), \qquad \Xi(g) = \operatorname{Ric}^g - \frac{\operatorname{scal}^g}{n}g.$$

Clearly, $\Xi(\hat{g}) = 0$ and the differential of Ξ at \hat{g} is

$$D_{\hat{g}} \Xi : TT_{\hat{g}} \to C^{0,\alpha}(S^2M), \qquad D_{\hat{g}} \Xi(h) = \Delta_E h.$$

Consider the closed subspace

$$V := \operatorname{im}(D_{\hat{g}}\Xi) = \left\{ h \in C^{0,\alpha}(TT_{\hat{g}}) \mid h \perp_{L^{2}(\hat{g})} \operatorname{ker}(\Delta_{E}) \cap C^{2,\alpha}(TT_{\hat{g}}) \right\}$$

and the $L^2(\hat{g})$ -orthogonal projection $\pi_V : C^{0,\alpha}(S^2M) \to V$. By construction, the map $\pi_V \circ \Xi : \mathcal{C} \to V$ has surjective differential $D_{\hat{g}}(\pi_V \circ \Xi)$. Thus by the implicit function theorem,

$$\mathcal{Z} := (\pi_V \circ \Xi)^{-1}(0)$$

is a real analytic submanifold of C such that

$$T_{\hat{\varrho}}\mathcal{Z} = \ker(\Delta_E) \cap C^{2,\alpha}(TT_{\hat{\varrho}}),$$

in particular, Z is finite-dimensional. Finally,

$$\mathcal{E} = \Xi^{-1}(0) = (\pi_V \circ \Xi)^{-1}(0) \cap (1 - \pi_V \circ \Xi)^{-1}(0) = \mathcal{Z} \cap (1 - \pi_V \circ \Xi)^{-1}(0) \subset \mathcal{Z}$$

is an analytic subset.

Proof of Theorem 1.4 Throughout the proof, we assume that the $C^{2,\alpha}$ -neighborhood s \mathcal{U}, \mathcal{C} , and \mathcal{V} are chosen so small that the above propositions apply. By Proposition 6.2 and diffeomorphism invariance, the equivalences hold in general if they hold for all metrics in \mathcal{S} . Also by Proposition 6.2, we may write any metric in \mathcal{S} as fg with $f \in \mathcal{V}$ and $g \in \mathcal{C}$. By [9, Theorem C], any $g \in \mathcal{C}$ is a Yamabe metric. Thus,

$$Y(fg) = Y(M, [fg]) = Y(M, [g]) = \text{scal}^g$$
 (38)

for all $fg \in S$. Now we are ready to prove the desired implications.

(i) \Leftrightarrow (iii): This is an immediate consequence of (38).

 $(ii) \Rightarrow (iii)$: This is trivial.

(iii) \Rightarrow (ii): By the Obata–Lichnerowicz eigenvalue estimate [36], we know that $\operatorname{spec}_+(\Delta_{\hat{g}}) > \frac{\operatorname{scal}_{\hat{g}}}{n-1}$. By continuous dependence of eigenvalues, we may therefore

choose a constant $\alpha > 0$ such that

$$\left(1 - \frac{n-2}{n-1}\alpha\right)\operatorname{spec}_{+}(\Delta_g) > \frac{\operatorname{scal}_g}{n-1}$$
(39)

for all $g \in C$, provided that C is sufficiently small around \hat{g} . We are going to show that \hat{g} is a maximum of λ_{α} on $S \cap \mathcal{M}_1$, which by Lemma 5.2 implies the nonexistence of metrics $g \in S \cap \mathcal{M}_1$ with $\operatorname{scal}^g \geq \operatorname{scal}^{\hat{g}}$ everywhere and $\operatorname{scal}^g > \operatorname{scal}^{\hat{g}}$ somewhere. Let now $fg \in S \cap \mathcal{M}_1$. By setting

$$u := \frac{f - \int_M f \, dV^g}{\int_M f \, dV^g}, \qquad d := \int_M f \, dV^g,$$

we can write fg = d(1+u)g, where u is a function with $\int_M u \, dV_g = 0$. Next, we join g and fg through

$$g_t := \operatorname{vol}(M, (1+tu)g)^{-\frac{u}{2}}(1+tu)g, \quad t \in [0, 1],$$

which is a curve of metrics of unit volume. Note that $d = \text{vol}(M, (1+u)g)^{-\frac{n}{2}}$ since fg = d(1+u)g is assumed to be of unit volume. Therefore, $g_0 = g$ and $g_1 = fg$. By Taylor expansion, we have

$$\lambda_{\alpha}(fg) = \lambda(g) + \frac{d}{dt}\lambda_{\alpha}(g_t)|_{t=0} + \frac{1}{2}\frac{d^2}{dt^2}\lambda_{\alpha}(g_t)|_{t=0} + R(g, u),$$

where

$$R(g, u) := \frac{1}{2} \int_0^1 (1-t)^2 \frac{d^3}{dt^3} \lambda_{\alpha}(g_t) dt.$$

Since $\int_M u \, dV_g = 0$, we get

$$\frac{d}{dt}g_t|_{t=0} = ug.$$

Proposition 5.3 then implies

$$\frac{d}{dt}\lambda_{\alpha}(g_t)|_{t=0} = D(\lambda_{\alpha})_g(ug) = 0,$$

and from Remark 5.6 we know that

$$\frac{d^2}{dt^2}\lambda_{\alpha}(g_t)|_{t=0} = -\int_M (L^g u)u \ dV_g,$$

🖄 Springer

where

$$L^{g} = (n-1)\left((n-1)\Delta^{g} - \operatorname{scal}^{g}\right)\left(-\left(1 - \frac{n-2}{n-1}\alpha\right)\Delta^{g} + \frac{\operatorname{scal}^{g}}{n-1}\right)(\Delta^{g})^{-1}.$$

By (39), we may choose C_1 so small that

$$L^g < -2C_1\Delta_g$$

for all $g \in C$. This implies

$$\frac{d^2}{dt^2} \lambda_{\alpha}(g_t)|_{t=0} = -\int_M (L^g u) u \, dV^g < -2C_1 \, \|u\|_{H^1}^2 \,,$$

where $C_1 > 0$ does not depend on $g \in C$. By Lemma 5.7, we have

$$\frac{d^3}{dt^3}\lambda_{\alpha}(g_t) \leq C_2 \|u\|_{C^{2,\alpha}} \|u\|_{H^1}^2,$$

which immediately yields

$$R(g, u) \leq C_3 \|u\|_{C^{2,\alpha}} \|u\|_{H^1}^2.$$

Combining all these estimates we find that

$$\lambda_{\alpha}(fg) \leq \lambda_{\alpha}(g) - (C_1 - C_3 \|u\|_{C^{2,\alpha}}) \|u\|_{H^1}^2 \leq \lambda_{\alpha}(g),$$

provided that f (and hence u) lies in a sufficiently small neighborhood \mathcal{V} of 1 in $C^{2,\alpha}(M)$. Finally, by assuming (iii), we have

$$\lambda_{\alpha}(fg) \leq \lambda_{\alpha}(g) = \operatorname{scal}^{g} \leq \operatorname{scal}^{\hat{g}} = \lambda_{\alpha}(\hat{g}),$$

which is what we needed to show.

(ii) \Rightarrow (iv): Suppose that $g \in \mathcal{M}_1$ satisfies $\operatorname{scal}^g = \operatorname{scal}^{\hat{g}}$ but is not Einstein. We then consider the tracefree tensor $h := \operatorname{Ric}^g - \frac{1}{n} \operatorname{scal}^g g$ which does not vanish identically. Since scal^g is constant, the contracted second Bianchi identity implies that

$$\delta h = \delta \operatorname{Ric}^{\tilde{g}} = -\frac{1}{2} \nabla \operatorname{scal}^{\tilde{g}} = 0,$$

and h is thus a TT-tensor. Let g_t be a solution of the volume-normalized Ricci-de Turck flow

$$\frac{d}{dt}g_t = -2\operatorname{Ric}^{g_t} + \frac{2}{n\operatorname{vol}(M, g_t)}\int_M \operatorname{scal}^{g_t} dV^{g_t}g_t + \mathcal{L}_{V(g_t,g)}g_t,$$
$$V(g_t, g)^k = (g_t)^{ij}(\Gamma(g_t)^k_{ij} - \Gamma(g)^k_{ij}),$$

with reference and initial metric $g_0 = g$. Then, g_t is a smooth curve in \mathcal{M}_1 which satisfies $g_0 = \tilde{g}$ and $\frac{d}{dt}g_t|_{t=0} = -2h$. Moreover, by parabolic theory, the metrics g_t are smooth for t > 0 and stay $C^{2,\alpha}$ -close to \tilde{g} . Since *h* is a TT-tensor, the first variation of the scalar curvature is

$$\frac{d}{dt}\operatorname{scal}^{g_t}|_{t=0} = -2\left(\Delta(\operatorname{tr} h) + \delta(\delta h) - \langle \operatorname{Ric}^{g_0}, h \rangle\right) = 2\langle h + \frac{1}{n}\operatorname{scal}^{g} g, h \rangle = 2|h|^2.$$

Since $h \neq 0$, we get a curve $g_t \in \mathcal{M}_1$ such that for small t > 0, we have $\operatorname{scal}^{g_t} \ge \operatorname{scal}^{\tilde{g}} = \operatorname{scal}^{g}$ everywhere and $\operatorname{scal}^{g_t} > \operatorname{scal}^{g}$ somewhere, contradicting (ii). (iv) \Rightarrow (iii): Let us consider the disjoint sets

$$\mathcal{C}_{>} := \left\{ g \in \mathcal{C} \mid \operatorname{scal}^{g} > \operatorname{scal}^{\hat{g}} \right\},$$
$$\mathcal{C}_{<} := \left\{ g \in \mathcal{C} \mid \operatorname{scal}^{g} < \operatorname{scal}^{\hat{g}} \right\},$$
$$\mathcal{C}_{=} := \left\{ g \in \mathcal{C} \mid \operatorname{scal}^{g} = \operatorname{scal}^{\hat{g}} \right\}.$$

Recall that $T_{\hat{g}}\mathcal{C} = C^{2,\alpha}(TT_{\hat{g}})$. Since the second variation of the Einstein-Hilbert functional is unbounded below on TT-tensors (see for example [6, Theorem 4.60]), we always have that $\mathcal{C}_{<} \neq \emptyset$. By Proposition 6.3, there is a finite-dimensional submanifold $\mathcal{Z} \subset \mathcal{C}$ which contains \mathcal{E} and thus $\mathcal{C}_{=}$ by assumption. Assume that (iii) does not hold. Then $\mathcal{C}_{>}$ and $\mathcal{C}_{<}$ are both nonempty open subsets of \mathcal{C} . We thus find metrics $g_{+} \in \mathcal{C}_{>} \setminus \mathcal{Z}$ and $g_{-} \in \mathcal{C}_{<} \setminus \mathcal{Z}$. As \mathcal{Z} has infinite codimension in $\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{C} \setminus \mathcal{Z}$ is connected. Thus, we can join g_{+} and g_{-} by a continuous curve $g_{t}, t \in [0, 1]$ in $\mathcal{C} \setminus \mathcal{Z}$. On the other hand, as the scalar curvature of g_{t} is continuous in t, we must have $g_{t_{0}} \in \mathcal{C}_{=} \subset \mathcal{Z}$ for some $t_{0} \in [0, 1]$ which is a contradiction.

7 Local scalar curvature rigidity

For a compact Riemannian manifold (M, \hat{g}) with boundary, we use the notation

$$\mathcal{M}_{\hat{g}}^{k+2} := \left\{ g \mid g \text{ Riemannian metric such that } g - \hat{g} \in \psi^2 \phi^2 \mathring{H}_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}(S^2 M) \right\}$$

Our first goal in this section is to prove the following theorem.

Theorem 7.1 Let (M, \hat{g}) be a compact *n*-dimensional Einstein manifold with boundary and assume that the first nonzero Neumann eigenvalue of the Laplacian satisfies

$$\mu_1^{NM}(M,\Delta^{\hat{g}}) > \frac{\operatorname{scal}^{\hat{g}}}{n-1}.$$
(40)

Choose $\alpha > 0$ *so small that*

$$\left[1-\frac{n-2}{n-1}\alpha\right]\mu_1^{NM}(M,\Delta^{\hat{g}}) > \frac{\operatorname{scal}^{\hat{g}}}{n-1}.$$

Then, if the first Dirichlet eigenvalue of the Einstein operator on TT-tensors satisfies

$$\mu_1^D(M, \Delta_E|_{TT}) > 0,$$

there exists a $\psi^2 \phi^2 H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}$ -neighbourhood \mathcal{V} of \hat{g} in $\mathcal{M}_{\hat{g}}^{k+2}$ such that $\lambda_{\alpha}(g) \leq \lambda_{\alpha}(\hat{g})$ for every $g \in \mathcal{V}$ with $\operatorname{vol}(M, g) = \operatorname{vol}(M, \hat{g})$. Further, equality holds if and only if gis Einstein.

We showed this assertion for closed manifolds in the proof of Theorem 1.4, in the implication (iii) \Rightarrow (ii). There, we used a local decomposition of the space of metrics which relies on closedness. We are not able to use these arguments here. We compensate this by assuming strict positivity of $\Delta_E|_{TT}$ which is a stronger assumption than (iii) in Theorem 1.4.

To prove Theorem 7.1 we need some preparation. Let us recall that on a compact manifold with boundary, by compactly supported we mean compactly supported in the interior. Let

$$C_{c,0}^{\infty}(M) := \left\{ f \in C_c^{\infty}(M) \mid \int_M f \, dV^{\hat{g}} = 0 \right\}.$$

We have a direct sum

$$C_{c,0}^{\infty}(M)\hat{g} \oplus \delta^*(C_c^{\infty}(T^*M)) \oplus C_c^{\infty}(TT).$$
(41)

Note that all h in this direct sum satisfy the condition $\int_M \operatorname{tr} h \, dV_g = 0$. That is, as deformations of the metric they preserve the total volume to first order.

Proposition 7.2 Let (M, \hat{g}) and $\alpha > 0$ satisfy the assumptions of Theorem 7.1. Then, $D_{\hat{g}}^2 \lambda_{\alpha}$ is diagonal with respect to the decomposition (41). For $h \in \delta^*(C_c^{\infty}(T^*M))$, we have $D_{\hat{g}}^2 \lambda_{\alpha}(h, h) = 0$. Furthermore, there is a constant C > 0 so that

$$D_{\hat{g}}^{2}\lambda_{\alpha}(h,h) < -C \|h\|_{H^{1}}^{2}$$
(42)

holds for all $h \in C^{\infty}_{c,0}(M)\hat{g} \oplus C^{\infty}_{c}(TT)$.

Proof We first consider the sum

$$C_{c,0}^{\infty}(M)\hat{g} \oplus C_{c}^{\infty}(TT).$$
(43)

It is a well-known fact that Δ_E preserves this sum, see for example [6, Theorem 4.60]. Therefore for $h \in C_c^{\infty}(TT)$ and $u \in C_{c,0}^{\infty}(M)\hat{g}$, Proposition 5.4 directly yields

$$D_{\hat{g}}^{2}\lambda_{\alpha}(u\hat{g}+h,u\hat{g}+h) = D_{\hat{g}}^{2}\lambda_{\alpha}(u\hat{g},u\hat{g}) + D_{\hat{g}}^{2}\lambda_{\alpha}(h,h).$$
(44)

Consequently, $D_{\hat{g}}^2 \lambda_{\alpha}$ is diagonal with respect to (43). By diffeomorphism invariance, $D_{\hat{g}}^2 \lambda_{\alpha}(\delta^*\omega, \cdot) = 0$ for all $\omega \in C_c^{\infty}(T^*M)$, since $\delta^*\omega = \mathcal{L}_{\omega^{\sharp}}\hat{g}$. Thus, $D_{\hat{g}}^2$ is diagonal with respect to the splitting (41) and vanishes identically on $\delta^*(C_c^{\infty}(T^*M))$.

To finish the proof, it remains to prove the H^1 -estimate (42). By (44) and the triangle inequality, it suffices to prove the H^1 -estimates on the parts of (43) separately. Recall that for $h \in C_c^{\infty}(TT)$, we have

$$D_{\hat{g}}^2 \lambda_{\alpha}(h,h) = -\frac{1}{2\operatorname{vol}(\hat{g})} \int_M \langle \Delta_E h, h \rangle \, dV$$

and for $u\hat{g} \in C^{\infty}_{c,0}(M)\hat{g}$, we have

$$D_{\hat{g}}^2 \lambda_{\alpha}(u\hat{g}, u\hat{g}) = \frac{1}{\operatorname{vol}(\hat{g})} \int_M u(Lu) \, dV,$$

where the operator L is

$$L = [(n-1)\Delta - \operatorname{scal}_g][((n-2)\alpha - (n-1))\Delta + \operatorname{scal}]\Delta^{-1},$$

see Remark 5.6. In both cases, continuous dependence of eigenvalues tells us that $\Delta_E - \epsilon \cdot (\Delta + 1)$ resp. $-L + \epsilon \cdot (\Delta + 1)$ will still be positive on the respective spaces for a small $\epsilon > 0$. Consequently, we get

$$D_{\hat{g}}^{2}\lambda_{\alpha}(h,h) = -\frac{1}{2\operatorname{vol}(\hat{g})} \int_{M} \langle \Delta_{E}h,h \rangle \, dV$$

$$\leq -\frac{\epsilon}{2\operatorname{vol}(\hat{g})} \int_{M} \left(|\nabla h|^{2} + |h|^{2} \right) \, dV = -\frac{\epsilon}{2\operatorname{vol}(\hat{g})} \|h\|_{H^{1}}^{2}$$

and

$$D_{\hat{g}}^{2}\lambda_{\alpha}(u\hat{g},u\hat{g}) = \frac{1}{\operatorname{vol}(\hat{g})} \int_{M} u(Lu) \, dV$$

$$\leq -\frac{\epsilon}{\operatorname{vol}(\hat{g})} \int_{M} \left(|\nabla u|^{2} + |u|^{2} \right) \, dV = -\frac{\epsilon}{\operatorname{vol}(\hat{g})} \|u\|_{H^{1}}^{2}$$

in the respective cases. This finishes the proof of the proposition.

Let us now consider the set of Riemannian metrics

$$\mathcal{R} := \left\{ g \mid g - \hat{g} \in \psi^2 \phi^2 \mathring{H}^{k+2}_{\phi,\psi}(S^2 M), \operatorname{vol}(M, g) = \operatorname{vol}(M, \hat{g}) \right\},\$$

which is a manifold (as the volume functional is clearly a submersion) with tangent space

$$T_{\hat{g}}\mathcal{R} = \left\{ h \in \psi^2 \phi^2 \mathring{H}^{k+2}_{\phi,\psi}(S^2 M) \mid \int_M \operatorname{tr} h \, dV = 0 \right\}.$$

We define an exponential map

$$\exp_{\hat{g}}: T_{\hat{g}}\mathcal{R} \supset \mathcal{B} \rightarrow \mathcal{R}, \qquad h \mapsto f(h)(\hat{g}+h),$$

🖄 Springer

where the conformal factor $f(h) \in \psi^2 \phi^2 H^{k+2}_{\phi,\psi}(M)$ is determined by the condition

$$dV_{\exp_{\hat{g}}(h)} = \left(1 + \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{tr} h\right) dV_{\hat{g}}.$$
(45)

Note that $\exp_{\hat{g}}$ maps into \mathcal{R} . By differentiating (45), we see that

$$0 = \frac{d}{dt} \left[dV_{\exp_{\hat{g}}(th)} - \left(1 + \frac{t}{2} \operatorname{tr} h\right) dV_{\hat{g}} \right]|_{t=0}$$

= $\frac{d}{dt} \left[(f(th))^{n/2} dV_{\hat{g}+th} \right]|_{t=0} - \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr} h dV_{\hat{g}}$
= $\frac{n}{2} \frac{d}{dt} f(th) dV_{\hat{g}}|_{t=0},$

where we used that f(0) = 1. Thus, $\frac{d}{dt} \exp_{\hat{g}}(th)|_{t=0} = h$, so that

$$D_0 \exp_{\hat{g}} = \operatorname{id}_{T_{\hat{g}}\mathcal{R}}.$$

In particular, $\exp_{\hat{g}}$ is a local diffeomorphism in a neighborhood of the origin. Now, let

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{S}} := \psi^2 \phi^2 \mathring{H}^{k+2}_{\phi,\psi}(M) \hat{g} \oplus \psi^2 \phi^2 \mathring{H}^{k+2}_{\phi,\psi}(TT).$$

$$\tag{46}$$

and

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\epsilon} = \left\{ h \in \widetilde{\mathcal{S}} \mid \|h\|_{\psi^2 \phi^2 H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} < \epsilon \right\}.$$

For a sufficiently small chosen $\epsilon > 0$, the set

$$\mathcal{S} := \exp_{\hat{\varrho}}(\mathcal{S}_{\epsilon})$$

is a smooth manifold with tangent space

$$T_{\hat{g}}\mathcal{S} = \widetilde{\mathcal{S}}.$$

Proposition 7.3 Let (M, \hat{g}) and $\alpha > 0$ satisfy the assumptions of Theorem 7.1. Then, provided that S was chosen small enough, we have $\lambda_{\alpha}(g) \leq \lambda_{\alpha}(\hat{g})$ for all $g \in S$ and equality holds if and only if $g = \hat{g}$.

Proof From Proposition 7.2, we get

$$D_{\hat{g}}^{2}\lambda_{\alpha}(h,h) \leq -C_{1} \|h\|_{H^{1}}^{2}$$
(47)

🖄 Springer

for all $h \in C^{\infty}_{c,0}(M)\hat{g} \oplus C^{\infty}_{c}(TT)$. By Lemma 3.8, the $\psi^2 \phi^2 H^{k+2}_{\phi,\psi}$ -closure of this direct sum is exactly (46). Thus by density, (47) also holds for $h \in \tilde{S}$. Write $g \in S$ as $g = \exp_{\hat{g}}(h)$ for $h \in \tilde{S}$. Taylor expansion then implies

$$\lambda_{\alpha}(g) = \lambda_{\alpha}(\hat{g}) + \frac{1}{2}D_{\hat{g}}^2\lambda_{\alpha}(h,h) + \frac{1}{2}\int_0^1 (1-t)^2 \frac{d^3}{dt^3}\lambda_{\alpha}(g_t)dt,$$

where $g_t := \exp_{\hat{g}}(th)$. Now we are estimating the error term in the expansion. By Lemma 5.7,

$$\left| \frac{d^3}{dt^3} \lambda_{\alpha}(g_t) \right| = \left| D_{g_t} \lambda_{\alpha}(g_t'') + 3D_{g_t}^2 \lambda_{\alpha}(g_t', g_t'') + D_{g_t}^3 \lambda_{\alpha}(g_t', g_t', g_t') \right|$$

$$\leq C \left(\left\| g_t''' \right\|_{L^2} + \left\| g_t' \right\|_{H^1} \left\| g_t'' \right\|_{H^1} + \left\| g_t' \right\|_{H^1}^2 \left\| g_t' \right\|_{C^{2,\alpha}} \right).$$

From the construction of the exponential map we get pointwise bounds

$$|\nabla^k g_t^{(m)}|(p) \le C(m,k) \left(\sup_{0 \le l \le k} |\nabla^l h|(p) \right)^m$$

for all $p \in M$ and $m, k \in \mathbb{N}_0$. Therefore, we can conclude from standard estimates that

$$\left|\frac{d^{3}}{dt^{3}}\lambda_{\alpha}(g_{t})\right| \leq C \|h\|_{C^{2,\alpha}} \|h\|_{H^{1}}^{2} \leq C \|h\|_{\psi^{2}\phi^{2}H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}} \|h\|_{H^{1}}^{2},$$

so that

$$\lambda_{\alpha}(g) \le \lambda_{\alpha}(\hat{g}) - (C_1 - C_2 \|h\|_{C^{2,\alpha}}) \|h\|_{H^1}^2 \le \lambda_{\alpha}(\hat{g}) - \frac{1}{2}C_1 \|h\|_{H^1}^2, \quad (48)$$

provided that S is chosen small enough. All the assertions are now immediate. \Box

Proof of Theorem 7.1 Let $C_c^{\infty}(TM)$ be the space of smooth vector fields of compact support and let $\text{Diff}_c(M)$ be the group of diffeomorphisms generated by $C_c^{\infty}(TM)$. Let S be the set in Proposition 7.3. By this proposition, \hat{g} is a local maximum of λ_{α} on S. We have a map

$$\Phi: \mathcal{S} \times \operatorname{Diff}_{c}(M) \to \mathcal{M}_{\hat{g}}^{k+2},$$

and since λ_{α} is diffeomorphism invariant, \hat{g} is a local maximum of λ_{α} on the set

$$\mathcal{W} := \Phi(\mathcal{S} \times \operatorname{Diff}_c(M)).$$

Let \overline{W} be the closure of W with respect to the $\psi^2 \phi^2 H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}$ -norm. By continuity, \hat{g} is a local maximum of λ_{α} also on \overline{W} . The tangent space $T_{\hat{g}}\overline{W}$ is then the closure of

$$\begin{split} T_{\hat{g}}\mathcal{W} &= T_{\hat{g}}\mathcal{S} \oplus \delta^*(C_c^\infty(T^*M)) \\ &= \psi^2 \phi^2 \mathring{H}_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}(M) \hat{g} \oplus \psi^2 \phi^2 \mathring{H}_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}(TT) \oplus \delta^*(C_c^\infty(T^*M)) \end{split}$$

with respect to the $\psi^2 \phi^2 H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}$ -norm. We clearly have

$$T_{\hat{g}}\overline{\mathcal{W}} = \psi^2 \phi^2 \mathring{H}^{k+2}_{\phi,\psi}(M) \hat{g} \oplus \psi^2 \phi^2 \mathring{H}^{k+2}_{\phi,\psi}(TT) \oplus \overline{\delta^*(C^{\infty}_c(T^*M))}^{\psi^2 \phi^2 H^{k+2}_{\phi,\psi}}$$
$$= \psi^2 \phi^2 \mathring{H}^{k+2}_{\phi,\psi}(S^2M).$$

In particular, $\overline{\mathcal{W}}$ contains an open neighbourhood \mathcal{V} of g with respect to the $\psi^2 \phi^2 H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}$ norm. We already know that \hat{g} is a maximizer of λ_{α} on \mathcal{U} . To finish the proof, it suffices to show that the maximum can be only attained by Einstein metrics. To prove this suppose that g is a metric in \mathcal{V} such that $\lambda_{\alpha}(g) = \lambda_{\alpha}(\hat{g})$. Let g_i be a sequence in \mathcal{W} such that $g_i \to g$ in the $\psi^2 \phi^2 H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}$ -norm. By continuity, $\lambda_{\alpha}(g_i) \to \lambda_{\alpha}(\hat{g})$. By construction of \mathcal{W} , there are metrics $\hat{g}_i \in \mathcal{S}$ isometric to g_i . By diffeomorphism invariance, $\lambda_{\alpha}(\hat{g}_i) \to \lambda_{\alpha}(\hat{g})$ as well and (48) implies that

$$\hat{g}_i \to \hat{g}$$
 in H^1 .

We thus have

$$\operatorname{Ric}^{\hat{g}_i} - \sigma g_i \to \operatorname{Ric}^{\hat{g}} - \sigma \hat{g} = 0, \text{ in } H^{-1}, \qquad \operatorname{Ric}^{g_i} - \sigma g_i \to \operatorname{Ric}^g - \sigma g, \text{ in } \psi^2 \phi^2 H^k_{\phi,\psi},$$

where σ is the Einstein constant of g. Since the $\psi^2 \phi^2 H_{\phi,\psi}^k$ -norm and the H^1 -norm are stronger than the H^{-1} -norm, we also have

$$g_i \to g, \quad \hat{g}_i \to \hat{g}, \quad \operatorname{Ric}^{g_i} \to \operatorname{Ric}^{g}, \quad \operatorname{Ric}^{\hat{g}_i} \to \operatorname{Ric}^{\hat{g}} = \sigma \hat{g}$$

in H^{-1} . By diffeomorphism invariance of the norm,

$$\begin{split} \left\|\operatorname{Ric}^{g} - \sigma g\right\|_{H^{-1}(g)} &\leftarrow \left\|\operatorname{Ric}^{g_{i}} - \sigma g_{i}\right\|_{H^{-1}(g_{i})} \\ &= \left\|\operatorname{Ric}^{\hat{g}_{i}} - \sigma \hat{g}_{i}\right\|_{H^{-1}(\hat{g}_{i})} \to \left\|\operatorname{Ric}^{\hat{g}} - \sigma \hat{g}\right\|_{H^{-1}(\hat{g})} = 0. \end{split}$$

Therefore, *g* is Einstein which was to be shown.

Remark 7.4 If (M, g) is Ricci-flat, the assertion of Theorem 7.1 holds without the volume constraint due to Proposition 5.3 (iii). The proof is the same up to a slight simplification which comes from dropping the volume constraint.

🖄 Springer

Proof of Theorem 1.9 This proof is now a straightforward assembly of the partial results we have obtained so far.

(i)⇒(ii)&(iii): Let $K \subset M$ be a compact subset and let *g* be a smooth metric on *M* which is $C^{2,\alpha}$ -close to \hat{g} and satisfies

$$g - \hat{g}|_{M \setminus K} \equiv 0.$$

Further, let N be a compact manifold with boundary such that

$$K \subset N \subset M$$
.

Then, $g|_N$ is $\psi^2 \phi^2 H_{\phi,\psi}^{k+2}$ -close to $\hat{g}|_N$. Choose N so close to M that

$$\mu_1^{NM}(N,\Delta^{\hat{g}}) > \frac{\operatorname{scal}^{\hat{g}}}{n-1}$$

and choose $\alpha > 0$ so small that

$$\left[1-\frac{n-2}{n-1}\alpha\right]\mu_1^{NM}(N,\Delta^{\hat{g}}) > \frac{\mathrm{scal}^{\hat{g}}}{n-1}.$$

From (i), (M, g) is linearly stable, and we have $\lambda_1^D(N, \Delta_E|_{TT}) > 0$. Thus by Theorem 7.1, we get $\lambda_{\alpha}(g|_N) \leq \lambda_{\alpha}(\hat{g}|_N)$, provided that g was chosen sufficiently close to \hat{g} . Thus by Lemma 5.2, it can not happen that scal^g \geq scal^{\hat{g}} everywhere and scal^g > scal^{\hat{g}} somewhere. This implies (ii). Now suppose that scal^g \equiv scal^{$\hat{g}} <math>\equiv$ constant. Then we have $\lambda_{\alpha}(g|_N) = \lambda_{\alpha}(\hat{g}|_N)$ and the rigidity part of Lemma 5.2 implies that g is Einstein as well. Now, g and \hat{g} are both Einstein metrics and hence both analytic Thus, since g and \hat{g} agree on an open set, they have to be isometric, see [16].</sup>

(ii) \Rightarrow (i) Suppose that (i) does not hold. Then, we find a nontrivial TT-tensor *h* with compact support $K := \text{supp}(h) \subset M$ such that

$$\int_M \langle \Delta_E h, h \rangle \, dV < 0$$

Let *N* be a smooth manifold with smooth boundary such that $K \subset N \subset M$. Further, let $f \in C^{\infty}(M)$ be a nonnegative function with $\operatorname{supp}(f) \subset N$ and

$$\int_M \langle \Delta_E h, h \rangle \, dV = -2 \int_M f \, dV < 0.$$

Then by Theorem 4.1, there exists a family of metrics g_t such that

$$\operatorname{scal}^{g_t} = \operatorname{scal}^{\hat{g}} + \frac{t^2}{2}f.$$

Since f nonnegative but not identically vanishing, this contradicts (ii).

(iii) \Rightarrow (i) This proof is similar to the previous one. If (i) does not hold, we find a TT-tensor h_- with compact support $K := \text{supp}(h) \subset M$ such that

$$\int_M \langle \Delta_E h_-, h_- \rangle \, dV < 0.$$

On the other hand, because Δ_E is unbounded from above, we find another TT-tensor h_+ supported in K such that

$$\int_M \langle \Delta_E h_+, h_+ \rangle \, dV > 0$$

By continuity, there exists $s \in (0, 1)$ such that $h := (1 - s)h_{-} + sh_{+}$ satisfies

$$\int_M \langle \Delta_E h, h \rangle \, dV = 0.$$

Because h_- and h_+ are linearly independent, h is a nontrivial TT-tensor supported in K. Thus by Theorem 4.1, there exists a family of metrics g_t with $\frac{d}{dt}g_t|_{t=0} = h$ such that

$$\operatorname{scal}^{g_t} = \operatorname{scal}^{\hat{g}}$$
.

It remains to show that the metrics g_t are not Einstein for small values of t. Since h is a TT-tensor we have

$$\frac{d}{dt}\left(\operatorname{Ric}^{g_t}-\frac{\operatorname{scal}^{g_t}}{n}g_t\right)\right)|_{t=0}=\frac{1}{2}\Delta_E h.$$

However, as *h* is compactly supported, the unique continuation property for elliptic equations tells us that $h \notin \text{ker}(\Delta_E)$. Therefore, g_t can not be Einstein for small *t*, which contradicts (iii).

Proof of Theorem 1.8 Up to taking Remarks 4.3 and 7.4 into account, the proof is the same. \Box

8 Mass-decreasing perturbations

Two well-known complete Ricci-flat manifolds which are linearly unstable are the Riemannian Schwarzschild manifold and Taub–Bolt manifold.

Let σ be the standard round metric on S^2 . For m > 0, the Riemannian Schwarzschild metric is defined on $S^1(8\pi m) \times (2m, \infty) \times S^2$ by

$$g^{RS} = \left(1 - \frac{2m}{r}\right)dt^2 + \left(1 - \frac{2m}{r}\right)^{-1}dr^2 + r^2\sigma,$$
(49)

where $t \in S^1(8\pi m)$ which is the circle of length $8\pi m$, and $r \in (2m, \infty)$. It extends to r = 2m to give a complete Ricci-flat metric on $\mathbb{R}^2 \times S^2$. The metric g^{RS} has an asymptotically flat end, meaning that the metric approaches the flat product metric on $\mathbb{R}^3 \times S^1$ on this end. This metric is known to be linearly unstable, see [2, 21, 43].

Let $\sigma_1, \sigma_2, \sigma_3$ be the standard left invariant 1-forms on S^3 . For m > 0, the Taub–Bolt metric is defined on $(2m, \infty) \times S^3$

$$g^{TB} = \frac{r^2 - m^2}{r^2 - \frac{5}{2}mr + m^2}dr^2 + (r^2 - m^2)(\sigma_1^2 + \sigma_2^2) + 4m^2\frac{r^2 - \frac{5}{2}mr + m^2}{r^2 - m^2}\sigma_3^2,$$
(50)

where $r \in (2m, \infty)$. It extends to r = 2m to give a complete Ricci-flat metric on $\mathbb{C}P^2 \setminus \{\text{point}\}\$ with an asymptotically locally flat end, which means that the metric approaches a flat metric on the total space of a non-trivial S^1 -fibration over $\mathbb{R}^3 \setminus B^3$ on the end. The metric g^{TB} is also known to be linearly unstable, see [24, 45, 47].

Proposition 8.1 *The Riemannian Schwarzschild and the Taub–Bolt manifolds allow compactly supported perturbations which strictly increase scalar curvature.*

Proof These metrics have a negative bottom of the L^2 -spectrum of Δ_L on the whole manifold. This implies that lowest Dirichlet eigenvalue of Δ_L on any sufficiently large open subset Ω with smooth boundary is negative. The corresponding eigensection is a TT-tensor, and from Corollary 3.10 we conclude that g^{RS} and g^{TB} are unstable as in Definition 1.7 on such Ω . The existence of compactly supported perturbations which increase scalar curvature now follows from Theorem 4.1.

For asymptotically flat and asymptotically locally flat manifolds there is a mass invariant defined at infinity, similar to the ADM mass for asympotically Euclidean manifolds. We will now see that compactly supported deformations from the above proposition can be transformed to mass-decreasing scalar flat perturbations which preserve the length of the circle at infinity.

When discussing the mass invariant we restrict attention to manifolds of dimension four. Let h_0 be the standard flat product metric on $\mathbb{R}^3 \times S^1$, where the circle factor has length *L*. Following [34, Section 3.3] we define (M, g) to be asymptotically flat if outside compact subsets, *M* is diffeomorphich to $\mathbb{R}^3 \times S^1$, and under this diffeomorphism it holds that

$$g = h_0 + O(r^{-\tau}), \quad \partial_i g = O(r^{-\tau-1}), \quad \partial_i \partial_i g = O(r^{-\tau-2}),$$

for some $\tau > 1/2$. For such manifolds, the mass is defined by

$$\mu_g^D := \frac{1}{4\pi L} \lim_{R \to \infty} \int_{S_R} \left(\delta^{h_0} g - d \operatorname{tr}^{h_0} g \right) \, dV^{h_0}.$$

Using a conformal trick from [42, Lemma 3.3] we can now prove the following.

Proposition 8.2 The Riemannian Schwarzschild manifold has scalar-flat perturbations which strictly decrease the mass, while keeping the length L at infinity constant.

Proof Let g_t be a family of metrics on $M = \mathbb{R}^2 \times S^2$ with $g_0 = g^{RS}$, $g_t = g^{RS}$ outside a compact set, and scal^{g_t} ≥ 0 with scal^{g_t} > 0 somewhere for t > 0.

Let $\varphi_t = 1 + u_t$ be the solution to

$$0 = -6\Delta^{g_t}\varphi_t + \operatorname{scal}^{g_t}\varphi_t = -6\Delta^{g_t}u_t + \operatorname{scal}^{g_t}u + \operatorname{scal}^{g_t}u$$

with $u_t \to 0$ at infinity. The existence and uniqueness of such a u_t can be deduced as in [34, Section 2]. By the maximum principle we have $\varphi_t > 0$. Set $\tilde{g}_t := \varphi_t^2 g_t$. Then (M, \tilde{g}_t) is an AF manifold with scal $\tilde{g}_t = 0$. The length L of the circle factor at infinity for \tilde{g}_t is the same as for g^{RS} .

We compute the mass of (M, \tilde{g}_t) ,

$$\begin{split} \mu_{\tilde{g}_{t}}^{D} &= \frac{1}{4\pi L} \lim_{R \to \infty} \int_{S_{R}} \left(\delta^{h_{0}} \tilde{g}_{t} - d \operatorname{tr}^{h_{0}} \tilde{g}_{t} \right) \lrcorner dV^{h_{0}} \\ &= \frac{1}{4\pi L} \lim_{R \to \infty} \int_{S_{R}} \left(\delta^{h_{0}} (\varphi_{t}^{2} g_{t}) - d \operatorname{tr}^{h_{0}} (\varphi_{t}^{2} g_{t}) \right) \lrcorner dV^{h_{0}} \\ &= \frac{1}{4\pi L} \lim_{R \to \infty} \int_{S_{R}} \varphi_{t}^{2} \left(\delta^{h_{0}} g_{t} - d \operatorname{tr}^{h_{0}} g_{t} \right) \lrcorner dV^{h_{0}} - \frac{6}{4\pi L} \lim_{R \to \infty} \int_{S_{R}} \varphi_{t} d\varphi_{t} \lrcorner dV^{h_{0}} \\ &= \mu_{g_{t}}^{D} - \frac{6}{4\pi L} \lim_{R \to \infty} \int_{S_{R}} \varphi_{t} d\varphi_{t} \lrcorner dV^{h_{0}} \\ &= \mu_{g^{RS}}^{D} - \frac{6}{4\pi L} \lim_{R \to \infty} \int_{S_{R}} \nu^{h_{0}} (\varphi_{t}) dV^{h_{0}}, \end{split}$$

where v^{h_0} is the outward pointing normal to S_R with respect to h_0 . From the equation for φ_t we have

$$0 = \int_{B_R} \left(-6\Delta^{g_t} \varphi_t + \operatorname{scal}^{g_t} \varphi_t \right) \, dV^{g_t} = -6 \int_{S_R} v^{g_t}(\varphi_t) \, dV^{g_t} + \int_{B_R} \operatorname{scal}^{g_t} \varphi_t \, dV^{g_t},$$

so in the limit $R \to \infty$ we find

$$6\lim_{R\to\infty}\int_{S_R}\nu^{h_0}(\varphi_t)\ dV^{h_0}=6\lim_{R\to\infty}\int_{S_R}\nu^{g_t}(\varphi_t)\ dV^{g_t}=\int_M\operatorname{scal}^{g_t}\varphi_t\ dV^{g_t}.$$

Together we get

$$\mu_{\tilde{g}_t}^D = \mu_{g^{RS}}^D - \frac{1}{4\pi L} \int_M \operatorname{scal}^{g_t} \varphi_t \ dV^{g_t},$$

so the mass of (M, \tilde{g}_t) is strictly less than the mass of (M, g^{RS}) .

507

In [34] the mass of asymptotically locally flat manifolds is defined. A similar computation shows that the same conformal change produces mass decreasing perturbations of the Taub–Bolt metric.

Acknowledgements This work was initiated at Institut Mittag-Leffler during the program *General Relativity, Geometry and Analysis* in Fall 2019 and completed at Mathematisches Forschungsinstitut Oberwolfach during the conference *Analysis, Geometry and Topology of Positive Scalar Curvature Metrics* in Summer 2021. We wish to thank both institutes for their hospitality and for the excellent working conditions they provide. The work of the second author was supported by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (KR 4978/1-1) through the priority program 2026 *Geometry at Infinity*. We also want to thank the referee for a very careful reading and many helpful comments to improve the paper.

Funding Open access funding provided by Royal Institute of Technology.

Data availability No data associate for the submission.

Declarations

Conflict of interest On behalf of all authors, the corresponding author states that there is no conflict of interest.

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

References

- Ammann, B., Kröncke, K., Weiss, H., Witt, F.: Holonomy rigidity for Ricci-flat metrics. Math. Z. 291(1–2), 303–311 (2019)
- 2. Allen, B.: Euclidean Schwarzschild negative mode. Phys. Rev. D (3) 30(6), 1153–1157 (1984)
- Bär, C.: Geometrische Analysis. Skript zur Vorlesung 'Geometrische Analysis', Wintersemester 2007/08 (2007). https://www.math.uni-potsdam.de/professuren/geometrie/lehre/lehrmaterialien
- 4. Bär, C., Dahl, M.: Small eigenvalues of the conformal Laplacian. Geom. Funct. Anal. **13**(3), 483–508 (2003)
- Bergery, L.B.: La courbure scalaire des variétés riemanniennes, Séminaire Bourbaki vol. 1979/80 exposés 543-560, pp. 225–245 (1981)
- Besse, A.L.: Einstein Manifolds, Classics in Mathematics. Springer, Berlin (2008). (Reprint of the 1987 edition)
- Brendle, S., Marques, F.C., Neves, A.: Deformations of the hemisphere that increase scalar curvature. Invent. Math. 185(1), 175–197 (2011)
- Böhm, C.: Non-compact cohomogeneity one Einstein manifolds. Bull. Soc. Math. Fr. 127(1), 135–177 (1999)
- Böhm, C., Wang, M., Ziller, W.: A variational approach for compact homogeneous Einstein manifolds. Geom. Funct. Anal. 14(4), 681–733 (2004)
- Catino, G., Cremaschi, L., Djadli, Z., Mantegazza, C., Mazzieri, L.: The Ricci-Bourguignon flow. Pac. J. Math. 287(2), 337–370 (2017)
- Chruściel, P.T., Herzlich, M.: The mass of asymptotically hyperbolic Riemannian manifolds. Pac. J. Math. 212(2), 231–264 (2003)

- Cao, H.-D., He, C.: Linear stability of Perelman's v-entropy on symmetric spaces of compact type. J. Reine Angew. Math. 709, 229–246 (2015)
- Dahl, M.: The Positive Mass Theorem for ALE Manifolds, Mathematics of Gravitation, Part I (Warsaw, 1996), pp. 133–142 (1997)
- Dai, X.: Stability of Einstein metrics and spin structures. Proceedings of the 4th International Congress of Chinese Mathematicians, pp. 59–72 (2007)
- Delay, E.: Smooth compactly supported solutions of some underdetermined elliptic PDE, with gluing applications. Commun. Partial Differ. Equ. 37(10), 1689–1716 (2012)
- DeTurck, D.M., Kazdan, J.L.: Some regularity theorems in Riemannian geometry. Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (4) 14(3), 249–260 (1981)
- Dai, X., Wang, X., Wei, G.: On the stability of Riemannian manifold with parallel spinors. Invent. Math. 161(1), 151–176 (2005)
- Ebin, D.G.: The manifold of Riemannian metrics. Global Analysis (Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., Vol. XV, Berkeley, Calif., 1968), pp. 11–40 (1970)
- Escobar, J.F.: Uniqueness theorems on conformal deformation of metrics, Sobolev inequalities, and an eigenvalue estimate. Commun. Pure Appl. Math. 43(7), 857–883 (1990)
- Fischer, A.E.: An introduction to conformal Ricci flow. A Spacetime safari: Essays in Honour of Vincent Moncrief, pp. S171—S218 (2004)
- Gross, D.J., Perry, M.J., Yaffe, L.G.: Instability of flat space at finite temperature. Phys. Rev. D (3) 25(2), 330–355 (1982)
- Hall, S., Haslhofer, R., Siepmann, M.: The stability inequality for Ricci-flat cones. J. Geom. Anal. 24(1), 472–494 (2014)
- Haslhofer, R., Müller, R.: Dynamical stability and instability of Ricci-flat metrics. Math. Ann. 360(1–2), 547–553 (2014)
- Holzegel, G., Schmelzer, T., Warnick, C.: Ricci flows connecting Taub-bolt and Taub-NUT metrics. Class. Quantum Gravity 24(24), 6201–6217 (2007)
- Koiso, N.: A decomposition of the space M of Riemannian metrics on a manifold. Osaka Math. J. 16(2), 423–429 (1979)
- 26. Koiso, N.: Einstein metrics and complex structures. Invent. Math. 73(1), 71-106 (1983)
- 27. Kröncke, K.: Stability of Einstein manifolds, Universität Potsdam, Ph.D. Thesis (2013)
- Kröncke, K.: Stable and unstable Einstein warped products. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 369(9), 6537–6563 (2017)
- Kröncke, K.: Stability of Einstein metrics under Ricci flow. Commun. Anal. Geom. 28(2), 351–394 (2020)
- Kazdan, J.L., Warner, F.W.: A direct approach to the determination of Gaussian and scalar curvature functions. Invent. Math. 28, 227–230 (1975)
- LeBrun, C.: Counter-examples to the generalized positive action conjecture. Commun. Math. Phys. 118(4), 591–596 (1988)
- Lichnerowicz, A.: Propagateurs et commutateurs en relativité générale. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. 10, 56 (1961)
- 33. Li, C., Mantoulidis, C.: Metrics with $\lambda_1(-\Delta + kR) \ge 0$ and flexibility in the Riemannian Penrose Inequality (2021). arXiv:2106.15709
- 34. Minerbe, V.: A mass for ALF manifolds. Commun. Math. Phys. 289(3), 925–955 (2009)
- Min-Oo, M.: Scalar curvature rigidity of asymptotically hyperbolic spin manifolds. Math. Ann. 285(4), 527–539 (1989)
- Obata, M.: Certain conditions for a Riemannian manifold to be isometric with a sphere. J. Math. Soc. Jpn. 14, 333–340 (1962)
- 37. Perelman, G.: The entropy formula for the Ricci flow and its geometric applications (2002). arXiv:math/0211159
- Petersen, P.: Riemannian Geometry, Third, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 171. Springer, Cham (2016)
- Prestidge, T.: Dynamic and thermodynamic stability and negative models in Schwarzschild-anti-de Sitter black holes. Phys. Rev. D (3) 61(8), 084002 (2000)
- Schoen, R.: Conformal deformation of a Riemannian metric to constant scalar curvature. J. Differ. Geom. 20(2), 479–495 (1984)
- 41. Sesum, N.: Linear and dynamical stability of Ricci-flat metrics. Duke Math. J. 133(1), 1-26 (2006)

- Schoen, R., Yau, S.T.: On the proof of the positive mass conjecture in general relativity. Commun. Math. Phys. 65(1), 45–76 (1979)
- Takahashi, R.: An ancient solution of the Ricci flow in dimension 4 converging to the Euclidean Schwarzschild metric. Commun. Anal. Geom. 22(2), 289–342 (2014)
- Wang, M.Y.: Preserving parallel spinors under metric deformations. Indiana Univ. Math. J. 40(3), 815–844 (1991)
- Warnick, C.: Semi-classical stability of AdS NUT instantons. Class. Quantum Gravity 23(11), 3801– 3817 (2006)
- 46. Witten, E.: A new proof of the positive energy theorem. Commun. Math. Phys. 80(3), 381-402 (1981)
- Young, R.E.: Semiclassical stability of asymptotically locally flat spaces. Phys. Rev. D (3) 28(10), 2420–2435 (1983)

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.